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Company overview

United Group is one of Australia’s leading
diversified engineering services companies
specialising in construction, fabrication,
manufacturing, industrial maintenance and
facilities management. It has total orders
in hand of more than $1.2 billion.

The company consists of three businesses:

United Goninan, a leader in railway
manufacturing, maintenance and engineering.

United KG, one of Australia’s largest integrated
engineering construction, industrial
maintenance and facilities management
businesses.

United Gooder, a leading multi-disciplinary
engineering and construction business, based
in New Zealand. 

The company has 3,700 employees, facilities 
in 25 locations and over 60 site operations
throughout Australia, New Zealand, Asia 
and the USA.

United Group partners with customers to deliver
excellence in business solutions in the following
sectors: heavy haulage railway and commuter
transport equipment; power supply and
distribution; water and waste management
processes; mining and mineral processing; 
oil and gas; and telecommunications. 
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of United Group Limited 

ABN 85 009 180 287 will be held at 2pm on Wednesday,

10 October 2001 at Exchange Square, Australian Stock

Exchange, 20 Bridge Street, Sydney.
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United Goninan United KG United Gooder

Revenue $370m of $677m $280m of $677m $27m of $677m

Share of 55% 41% 4%
company revenue

Earnings EBITA $28.4 million $(4.1) million $1.7 million
(before tax and 
significant items) 

Net assets $47.6 million $28.1 million $4.7 million

Order book $760 million $450 million $23 million

Activities Railway manufacturing, Engineering, construction, Engineering, construction,
engineering,  fabrication, industrial industrial maintenance and 
design and manufacture maintenance and facilities management
of rolling stock, maintenance facilities management
and outsourcing, distribution
of spare parts

Core sectors Rail transportation Oil, gas and LNG, mineral Electrical and mechanical 
– locomotive and mining processing, services, water supply 
– freight water supply and waste and waste water treatment,
– passenger water treatment, power power supply, transmission 

supply, transmission and distribution, and 
and distribution, telecommunications
telecommunications and
railway signalling 

Countries of Australia Australia New Zealand
operation Hong Kong Thailand Fiji

Thailand
USA

Employees 1,600 1,800 300

Key drivers Principally affected by Engineering construction and Capital spending in 
for business private and public sector rail fabrication activities driven power, water resources 

and transport infrastructure by activity in Australia’s and telecommunications 
expenditure energy, resource and mining infrastructure in New Zealand

sectors and Pacific region
Trend for greater private
sector involvement in Capital spending in water, Industrial maintenance 
public infrastructure waste water treatment, and facilities management

power, telecommunication activities affected by private 
Demand for private sector and manufacturing sectors and public sector outsourcing
maintenance capabilities of non-core functions
in Australia’s and Asia’s Industrial maintenance 
railway sector and facilities management 

activities affected by private 
Capital spending in the and public sector outsourcing
Australian resource sector of non-core functions
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2001 has been a year of significant change for your

company. United Group began the year as a Perth-based

engineering company with five diverse and separate

businesses, operating largely independently of one another.

During the year the company, led by the new Managing

Director and Chief Executive Officer Richard Leupen,

instituted a major restructuring to deliver improved

performance, profitability and to enhance shareholder

value. The benefits will start to be seen in the current

financial year.

This restructuring program involved merging our

construction, engineering and maintenance businesses to

form United KG; implementing a cost reduction program

to reduce overheads; forming a group operating strategy

so that all businesses work as a team; and moving the

company’s headquarters to Sydney. A single corporate

identity was also developed so all businesses are

identified as part of United Group. 

From this program of change, United Group has emerged

with three distinct businesses, now working together to

form one of Australia’s leading diversified engineering

services companies. The one company platform we have

established is extracting synergies from all businesses

and improving core competencies. We are confident that

our new strategy will bring significant benefits in terms

of revenue, earnings and shareholder value. 

United Group’s earnings before interest, tax, amortisation

and significant items for the year to 30 June 2001 was

$24.1 million (2000: $30.8 million). One-off costs

totalling $2.7 million after tax, relating to the company’s

restructuring initiatives, resulted in an operating profit

after tax of $7.7 million (2000: $10.7 million).

Earnings per share were 9.5 cents (2000: 14 cents) and

your directors have declared a fully franked dividend of 

4 cents per share (2000: 3 cents), payable on 11 October

to shareholders on the register at 4 October. This brings

the total dividend for the year to 7 cents per share

(2000: 9 cents), fully franked.

The overall profit for the year was disappointing. 

United Goninan performed very strongly, United Gooder

increased earnings and United KG’s industrial

maintenance and facilities management operations made

a steady contribution. The improved performance by

these businesses was outweighed by losses in the

company’s construction operations which suffered from

inefficiencies in the completion of some contracts 

and a lack of major resource construction projects. 

Over the year, the market has begun to recognise the

strengths and potential of the company following the

restructuring program, and we are pleased to note that

the share price has moved from 99 cents to over $2. The

Board and management are confident that United Group is

in the strongest position in its history to capitalise on the

growing opportunities in the sectors in which we operate. 

I would like to thank all the members of the Board for their

advice and assistance. We are pleased to welcome Steve

Bertamini as a director and his leadership skills have

already added value. Finally, I would like to thank the 3,700

people that make up United Group for their hard work

and commitment during this time of significant change.

It is they who are responsible for achieving our future

vision and we are grateful for their continuing efforts.

Ivan Deveson AO, CHAIRMAN
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Chairman’s review 

United Group has emerged with three distinct businesses,
now working together to become one of Australia’s
leading diversified engineering services companies.
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Highlights of the year

United Group

• Formed United KG by merging United Construction,

Kilpatrick Green and Total Asset Management Services

to create one of Australia’s largest engineering,

construction and maintenance business

• Initiated restructuring and cost reduction programs,

targeting $10 million of annualised cost savings 

by 31 December 2001

• Established new single corporate identity 

• Increased order book to more than $1.2 billion

• Strengthened management team by appointment

of CFO, CIO and National Safety Manager

• Reduction of net debt to $40.8 million from 

$58 million in the previous corresponding period

• Successful cross-selling of services between 

group businesses

United Goninan

• Increased earnings by 53 per cent from the

previous corresponding period

• Strengthened alliances with technology partners

GE Transportation Systems and Alstom

• Developing international activities in Hong Kong,

Pakistan, Thailand, Namibia and Brazil 

• Increased order book to $760 million

United KG

• Positive earnings contribution from industrial

maintenance and facilities management operations

• $32 million Ridgeway gold mine engineering

construction contract win

• Five-year, $60 million expansion of industrial

maintenance services for BP, Kwinana, WA

• Grew order book to $450 million

United Gooder 

• Increased earnings before interest and tax to 

$1.7 million from $0.7 million in the previous

corresponding period

• Maintained strong order book of $23 million.

290.8

369.8

436.2

280.2

26.8 26.6
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18.6

28.4

13.7
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1.7
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00 01

■ United Goninan          ■ United KG ■ United Gooder

In the  2000 financial year, United KG consisted of United Construction, Kilpatrick Green and Total Asset Management Services.
United Goninan’s 2000 revenue and earnings are recorded from 24 August 1999 to 30 June 2000.

Sales $million EBITA $million
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UNITED GROUP’s profit performance for the year was

unacceptable. Our construction business was adversely

affected by a lack of viable projects in the resource

construction sector and less than expected outcomes in

some contracts. To improve future performance, we have

taken action to strengthen project management capabilities

and form strategic alliances with technology partners. 

United Goninan and United Gooder both performed at

record levels. Increased activity in United Goninan’s

MainTrain business and the ongoing success of its

maintenance and refurbishment project for Hong Kong’s

Mass Transit Rail Corporation (MTRC) delivered an

outstanding contribution. United Gooder’s focus on high

margin work also resulted in increased earnings.

United KG’s industrial maintenance and facilities

management business had a steady year with a number of

contract wins and the retention of some existing contracts.

We are committed to further improving the earnings of

these businesses, as described in the following pages.

Safety

United Group has a total commitment to continuous

improvement of our safety performance. This is a key

factor in undertaking major engineering tasks, and our

customers are demanding a ‘not negotiable’ attitude to

safety. We have recently appointed a Group Safety

Manager to strengthen our nineteen-strong safety team

and further improved our group-wide safety outcomes. 

The cornerstone of this program is USafe, developed

to instill a consistent and visible safety culture into 

all operations. USafe focuses on improving awareness 

of each individual’s responsibility for safety in the

workplace and applies to all employees, including

foremen, supervisors, superintendents, team leaders,

inspectors, coordinators, managers, senior executives as

well as subcontractors. It also embraces business support

areas such as accounts, procurement and administration. 

We look forward to reporting ever-improving safety

outcomes in all of our operations, and to sustain the

highest level of commitment to safety.

Our change program

In February of this year, United Group initiated a major

change program involving the reorganisation of all

businesses into a new structure, and the creation of 

a single group culture to improve operations and market

acceptance. These changes are starting to bear fruit, 

but are yet to impact fully on our overall performance. 

The first phase was the creation of three businesses out 

of five, in order to extract synergies and harness all the

company’s expertise and resources to meet our customers’

needs. We merged our construction, engineering, industrial

maintenance and facilities management businesses to form

United KG, and this will deliver greater market share and

critical mass as we compete for projects. It also allows our

customers to benefit from a ‘whole-of-life’ engineering,

construction and maintenance solution. After six months,

there are signs that United KG’s multi-faceted service

approach will deliver significant results. 

The second phase has been to create a single culture. 

We have developed a common identity so that all

businesses are recognised as part of the one company,

our customers appreciate the broad scope of our

operations, and successes in each business benefit the

entire group. Our people can now take advantage of

growth opportunities across all businesses.

Operating as one company helps us to extract and 

exploit synergies, leading to improved performance 

and operational efficiency. We have established lead

teams to manage group functions such as procurement,

information technology, finance, and safety and

organisational development and these are freeing up the

businesses so they can focus on winning contracts and

servicing customers. This is being enhanced by a shared

services centre which will manage transactional services

such as accounts payable and payroll. 

A one-company strategy also gives us the ability to

cross-sell services. All businesses are more mindful of the

opportunities this brings United Group and it is pleasing

to note that we are already achieving successes. These

include United KG using United Goninan’s fabrication

Managing director and CEO’s 
review of operations 



facilities at Taree for steel fabrication for an engineering

construction project at Orange, New South Wales. United

Gooder is exploring maintenance opportunities in New

Zealand with United Goninan, and United KG is being

supported by our New Zealand operations on power line

construction projects in Queensland.

Central to our change program has been the need to reduce

overheads. By combining our purchasing power, we have

achieved savings in industrial supplies, travel, telecommu-

nications, fleet leasing, office supplies and general

merchandise. Our target of removing $10 million in annual

costs by 31 December 2001 is on schedule, with $5.5

million of overhead savings already achieved. New supply

agreements and practices have been put into place to

ensure these savings are maintained and group purchasing

power will deliver significant savings to the company in the

near term.

Formation of an integrated IT platform is another compo-

nent of our change program and this is underpinning a

number of cost saving initiatives which rely upon

accurate and timely management of information integrity.

Our commitment to creating a leading-edge system has

been strengthened by the appointment of a Chief

Information Officer and a strategic plan has been

developed outlining key information management

improvements. 

Strategic alliances 

Building strategic alliances, strengthening existing ones

and forming joint ventures is a key part of United

Group’s strategy. Our immediate goal is to move the

company’s services higher up the value chain, away from

high risk, low value-adding subcontractor services to a

greater emphasis on project and construction

management. Strategic technology alliances and joint

ventures will help us achieve this. Our engineering

construction operations are already engaged in a number

of projects with world-class technology partners in all

core sectors. United Goninan continues to strengthen its

existing relationship with GE Transportation Systems, and

the business is pursuing several new alliances with

international rail sector partners. 

Balance sheet

A sound balance sheet is key to improving performance

and our debt reduction program is an important

component of this. We have reduced the company’s net

debt from $58 million to $40.8 million over the year,

giving a debt to equity ratio of 41 per cent. This is a

major achievement in improving the business’ financial

capacity in preparedness for growth.

Outlook

Our ‘one group, one vision’ strategy aims to transform

United Group into one of the region’s leading engineering

services companies. Attracting and retaining the best

people in the industry will be key to our achieving this.

Placing greater emphasis on training and development is

a priority and will position us as a technically-capable

company contributing to our customers’ businesses. 

During the next twelve months, we will cement the

changes we have made, and we expect to start reaping

the rewards of our restructuring initiatives. It is

important that our people and shareholders recognise this

remains ‘work in progress’ and we have not yet reached

performance levels necessary to achieve a leading market

position. You can be assured that management remains

committed to realising the potential of United Group.

Richard Leupen, MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CEO
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We are committed to further improving the
earnings of our businesses.
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UNITED GONINAN performed exceptionally well 

during the year, increasing revenue by 27 per cent 

and earnings by 53 per cent on the previous year. 

The contract to modernise and refurbish Hong Kong’s

MTRC 760 passenger-car fleet, and the Unit Exchange

Services business, established to

refurbish and refit diesel locomotive

engines, were key revenue and earnings

drivers. United Goninan’s Victorian

operation delivered a strong performance,

due mainly to a $2 million refurbishment

contract of passenger cars for National

Express Group. MainTrain, which is

responsible for servicing and maintaining

City Rail’s 1,450 passenger cars in New

South Wales, increased its workload during the period

due to the 2000 Olympic Games. 

Cross-selling of services with other group businesses

presented United Goninan with further opportunities

during the period. Structural fabrication work at the 

Port Waratah Coal Services loading facility in Newcastle,

New South Wales, and maintenance services for sulphuric

acid tank trains from WMC’s Mount Isa, Queensland, plant

are examples of joint initiatives undertaken with United

KG. These projects highlight the synergies between group

businesses, which provide complementary services to

customers throughout Australia, New Zealand and Asia. 

New contract wins during the period included:

• The $52 million contract to build Westrail’s high

speed Prospector railcars for Western Australia

• Fabrication of 130 iron-ore wagons for Portman Mining

• A $16 million contract to design and manufacture

grain wagons for Australian Western Railroad 

• Engine refits for the State Rail Authority 

of New South Wales’s XPT fleet

• Supply of three locomotives for Hamersley Iron

in the Pilbara, Western Australia

• A contract in Townsville for Queensland Rail to provide

the supply of spare parts and technical support for

the 2600 and 2800 Class locomotive fleet 

• Expanded maintenance activity for City Rail, 

providing a greater scope of overhaul services 

for the existing fleet in Sydney.

Strategic alliances with international technology 

partners continue to be key drivers for United Goninan.

In conjunction with GE Transportation Systems, the

business is pursuing a number of international activities

including locomotive manufacturing and modernisation

projects in Pakistan, Thailand, Namibia and Brazil.

Outlook

Growing international operations, such as the continuation

of Hong Kong’s MTRC modernisation contract, and greater

levels of long-term maintenance activity in the domestic

and international rail sectors, should secure United

Goninan’s future revenue and earnings.

United Goninan continues to build a leading position 

in the rail sector as the service provider of choice in 

key markets. With a solid order book of $760 million, 

the business is expected to deliver another strong

performance next year.

Review of operations 

United Goninan, a leader in the design, manufacture, modernisation and
maintenance of rail rolling stock in Australia, Asia and the USA
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7United Goninan’s Tangara crosses the Sydney Harbour Bridge
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UNITED KG was formed in March of this year by the

merger of United Group’s construction and engineering

businesses – United Constructions and Kilpatrick Green –

and United’s industrial maintenance and facilities

management business – Total Asset Management Services.

It has been a year of significant change

for the business, with restructuring and

cost reduction initiatives put into place

to improve performance and establish

United KG as a leader in engineering

construction, industrial maintenance and

facilities management.

The industrial maintenance and facilities

management operation performed well

during the period, making positive revenue and earnings

contributions. This was mainly due to key industrial

maintenance contract wins and the retention and

expansion of facilities management projects. However, this

positive contribution did not offset losses in earnings by

the engineering construction operations. These occurred

due to continuing depressed trading activity in the

Australian resource sector particularly in Western Australia,

and less than expected outcomes in some projects.

Specific steps, including strengthening of our teams

and systems, will prevent a recurrence of these issues.

During the period, the business was awarded a number 

of major contracts:

Engineering construction

• Civil and fabrication works at Newcrest’s Ridgeway

gold mine, Orange, New South Wales, valued at 

$32 million

• A $6 million electrical refit of the frigate, HMAS

Darwin, for the Royal Australian Navy

• Steel fabrication and equipment installation for

Sinclair Knight Merz at the West Angelas materials

handling facility, Cape Lambert Port, northern

Western Australia, valued at $24 million 

• A $6.8 million sewage treatment plant upgrade 

for the Department of Public Works and Services,

Vincentia, New South Wales

Industrial maintenance and facilities management

• A five-year, $60 million expansion of mechanical 

and electrical services at BP’s Kwinana refinery,

Western Australia 

• A three-year, multi-disciplinary site contract for 

Alcoa Australia’s Pinjarra and Wagerup refineries

in Western Australia, valued at $45 million

• A two-year, $19 million extension of facilities

management services to Melbourne Water.

Outlook

The traditionally cyclical resource construction sector,

which was relatively flat for the year to 30 June,

is expected to pick up in late 2001 and into 2002. 

This upturn should provide United KG with further

opportunities in this sector, but historical levels of

activity are unlikely to be seen next year. The major

focus for management in the next period will be the

successful execution of construction contracts, ensuring

this part of the operation makes a positive contribution

to earnings. This will be achieved through

strengthening project management resources, using

strategic alliances, and attracting and retaining talented

people. The industrial maintenance and facilities

management operations are well placed for future

growth, generating sustained earnings and long-term

revenue for the business. 

United KG now has the critical mass to compete

aggressively for major contracts in key sectors. Whilst

the impact of merging businesses and the new identity

is yet to fully penetrate the marketplace, existing and

prospective customers can now take advantage of a

multi-faceted engineering solution, encompassing

engineering construction, fabrication, manufacturing

and maintenance capabilities. The business will continue

to extract efficiencies from the restructuring and cost

reduction programs. With an order book of $450 million,

made up of $150 million from engineering construction

and $300 million from industrial maintenance and

facilities management, United KG has a platform from

which to deliver improved trading performance in the

coming financial year.
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Review of operations 

United KG, one of Australia’s leading integrated engineering construction,
industrial maintenance and facilities management businesses



9The oil and gas industry is a key business driver for United KG
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Review of operations 

United Gooder, one of New Zealand’s leading multi-disciplinary engineering
construction businesses

UNITED GOODER continued its strong performance,

substantially increasing earnings for the year. 

Revenue was in line with that of the previous period,

demonstrating that United Gooder’s focus on high 

margin work and strong project management is 

delivering results. 

During the year, United Gooder 

was awarded a number of contracts: 

• Installation of communications, 

low voltage power, ventilation 

and drainage systems for a 

10 kilometre tunnel which provides

a secure power supply to Auckland’s 

central business district

• Electrical, controls and mechanical installation 

on the Green Island waste water treatment plant 

in Dunedin

• Upgrade of the Fielding substation with two new

transformer banks

• Installation of the ultra-violet disinfection system

for the Manukau waste water treatment plant in

Auckland, the largest such plant in the world

• A heating ventilation and air-conditioning

maintenance contract for all Woolworths’ 

New Zealand supermarkets

• Installation of a 75 kilometre fibre-optic transmission

system as part of Telecom New Zealand’s main trunk

broadband communications network.

The United Gooder team is working to continually

improve operations and is confident of maximising

potential in all sectors of the business. United Gooder’s

power operations are being improved by new operational

and administrative procedures, which should strengthen

future performance. The communications operations are

also focussing on securing long-term contracts and

reducing overheads. 

Outlook 

The outlook for the next period is positive, with a strong

order book of $23 million and preferred tender status

achieved on a number of significant projects in all

market sectors. United Gooder is poised for growth

on the back of this year’s result. All operations of the

business have a clear focus on maintaining a competitive

advantage, and will continue to work hard to convert

this into tangible results. 

The impact of the restructuring program on the business

is encouraging and is expected to yield substantial

benefits for United Gooder. There are many opportunities

to expand the broad range of United Group’s services in

New Zealand, and the business’ strong reputation, proven

track record and depth of expertise offer a sound

platform to achieve this. 



11United Gooder is a leading service provider to New Zealand’s power industry
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Your directors have pleasure in submitting their report

for the financial year ended 30 June 2001.

Directors

The names of directors in office during or since the end

of the previous financial year were:

Ivan Deveson AO

Bruno Camarri

Steve Bertamini (appointed 5 April 2001)

Richard Leupen (appointed 10 October 2000)

Gordon Martin

David Moffatt (resigned 14 February 2001)

Dennis O’Neill (resigned 28 September 2000)

Roland Williams CBE

David Young

Unless indicated otherwise, all directors held the position

of director throughout the financial year and up to the

date of this report.

Ivan Deveson AO, NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN – AGE 67 

Masters Degree in Management (Stanford)

Joined the Board in September 1994. Mr Deveson is 

a well-known businessman whose career includes more

than 30 years’ experience in the manufacturing industry

in Australia, the USA, Africa and Europe. He is a non-

executive director of Crane Holdings Limited and

Chairman of Avanteos, a technical company in the

financial services area.

After wide experience with General Motors in Australia,

the USA and Europe, he was appointed Managing Director

of Nissan Australia in 1987, a position he held until

retiring from the automotive industry in 1991. He was

Chairman of the Seven Network from 1991 to 1995 and

Lord Mayor of the City of Melbourne from 1996 to 1999.

In 1991, he was awarded the Order of Australia and

named Victorian of the Year.

Interest in shares 11,000 shares

Bruno Camarri, NON-EXECUTIVE DEPUTY CHAIRMAN – AGE 54

LLB

Joined the Board in October 1994. Mr Camarri has

practised as a corporate lawyer since 1970, primarily

representing clients in the energy and natural resources

industries. He is a partner of the law firm Freehills and

was a member of the firm’s National Board of

Management between 1979 and 1987. He is Chairman 

of Murchison United NL and a non-executive director 

of Bristile Limited, Rothschild Golden Arrow Investors

Limited, and several other public and private companies.

Mr Camarri is a patron of United Way (WA) Inc, President

of the Board of Governors of Meerilinga Young Children’s

Foundation Inc and a member of the Board of Trustees 

of the Royal WA Institute for the Blind Foundation.

Interest in shares 50,000 shares

Richard Leupen, MANAGING DIRECTOR AND 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER – AGE 48

Degree in Science (MechEng), CP Engineer

Joined the Board in October 2000. Mr Leupen has almost

30 years’ experience in engineering and construction. He

has worked for international and Australian engineering

companies including GHD, and as President, Chief

Executive Officer and Executive Chairman of Kaiser

Engineers, based in Perth and Washington DC. Previous

experience was gained at operations including BHP Port

Kembla, Shell Australia and Simcoa Operations.

Mr Leupen is Chairman of United Group’s executive

committee and of the company’s operating subsidiaries.

He is a Chartered Professional Engineer, a Fellow of the

Institute of Engineers, Australia, Fellow of the Australian

Institute of Company Directors, director of the Australian

Constructors Association, director of the National

Industry and Engineering Forum, Fellow of the Australian

Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, and a Governor of

the American Chamber of Commerce in Australia.

Interest in shares 1,000,000 options
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Directors’ report 

David Young Gordon Martin Roland Williams Richard Leupen Ivan Deveson Urs Meyerhans Steve Bertamini Bruno Camarri



Steve Bertamini, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR – AGE 37

Bachelor of Business, MBA

Joined the Board in April 2001. Mr Bertamini was

appointed Chief Executive Officer of GE, Australia and

New Zealand in January 2001. He is responsible for the

growth of GE’s activities in these countries. These

include aircraft engines, appliances, consumer and

commercial financial services, industrial systems,

information services, lighting, medical systems, plastics,

power systems and transportation systems. Mr Bertamini

is also President of GE Capital, Asia.

Mr Bertamini has held leadership positions in Australia

with GE Capital since 1996 when he was appointed

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of GE

Capital Consumer Finance Australia. Two years later 

he was appointed Chief Operating Officer of GE Capital

Services Australia and in 1999 he was promoted to Chief

Executive Officer of GE Capital Consumer Finance and

Insurance, Australia and New Zealand. He joined GE

Capital in the USA in 1986.

Interest in shares Nil

Gordon Martin, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR – AGE 57

Degrees in Chemical Engineering and Economics

Joined the Board in August 1994. Mr Martin has spent

over 30 years in the chemical industry and retired as

Managing Director of Coogee Chemicals Pty Ltd in 1997.

Mr Martin is Chairman of Coogee Chemicals Pty Limited

and Foundation Capital Limited and a non-executive

director of Burswood Limited.

He is a past State President (WA Division) and National

Vice President of the Australian Institute of Company

Directors.

Interest in shares 40,000 shares

Roland Williams CBE, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR – AGE 62 

Joined the Board in November 1999. Dr Williams joined

Shell in 1963 and held numerous senior management 

and executive roles in various countries prior to his

retirement from Shell in June 1999, at which time

he was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Shell

Australia Limited and Shell Oceania Limited. Dr Williams

is the non-executive Chairman of Australian Magnesium

Corporation Pty Limited, a non-executive director of

Boral Limited and Origin Energy Limited, a Fellow of the

Institution of Chemical Engineers, a Companion of the

Institute of Gas Engineers (UK) and a Chartered Engineer

(UK), and an executive of several professional,

educational and business institutions.

Interest in shares 10,000 shares

David Young, NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR – AGE 60

FCA, FCPA, FAIM, FAICD.

Joined the Board in June 1994. Mr Young holds a number

of directorships, including Chairmanship of Burswood

Limited, and is a non-executive director of Home

Building Society Limited and Atkins Carlyle Limited.

Mr Young is past president (WA) of the Australian

Institute of Company Directors and is a vice president 

of the Scout Association of Australia (WA). He 

was Managing Partner of KPMG in Western Australia 

from 1978 to 1992.

Interest in shares 39,000 shares

Company Secretary

Urs Meyerhans, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER – AGE 41
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Principal activities

United Group is one of Australia’s leading diversified

engineering services companies specialising in

construction, fabrication, manufacturing, industrial

maintenance and facilities management. It operates

throughout Australia, New Zealand, Asia and the USA,

and services customers in the following sectors: power

supply and distribution; water and waste management

processes; mining and mineral processing; oil, gas and

LNG; telecommunications; heavy haulage railway and

commuter transport equipment.

Operating results

The consolidated profit of the consolidated entity after

providing for income tax but before one-off costs was

$10.4 million (2000: $13.1 million) and after one-off

costs was $7.7 million (2000: $10.7 million).

Dividends paid or to be paid

The following dividends on issued ordinary shares of

United Group have been paid or declared since the 

end of the previous financial year:

Interim ordinary dividend of 3 cents per share, fully

franked, paid on 11 April 2001 $2,424,593.

Final ordinary dividend of 4 cents per share, fully

franked, to be paid on 11 October 2001 $3,232,791.

Review of operations

A review of the operations of United Group and its

controlled entities, and the results of those operations,

are contained in the Chairman’s review and Managing

Director and CEO’s review of operations.

Significant changes in state of affairs

United Group restructured its businesses into three

operations being United KG (a merger of United

Construction, Total Asset Management Services and

Kilpatrick Green), United Goninan (change of name 

from A Goninan and Company) and United Gooder

(previously part of Kilpatrick Green). Other than the

matters referred to above and in the after balance date

events section of this report, no significant changes

occurred in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity

during the financial year.

After balance date events

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end 

of the financial year which have significantly affected

or may significantly affect the operations, the results

of those operations or the state of affairs of the

consolidated entity in subsequent financial years.

Likely developments and results

The directors have not included any further information

on the likely developments or expected future results of

the operations of the consolidated entity as the directors

have reasonable grounds to believe that such information

would prejudice the interests of the consolidated entity

if such information was included.

Environmental regulation performance

The consolidated entity’s environmental obligations 

are regulated under both Federal and State law.

Environmental performance obligations are monitored by

the health, safety and environment committee and are

subjected from time to time to internal and independent

audit. The consolidated entity has a policy of at least

complying with, and in most cases exceeding, its

environmental performance obligations. No environmental

breaches were notified by any government agency during

the year ended 30 June 2001. 

Meetings of directors

The number of meetings of the Board and of Board

committees during the financial year were:

Board or Committee Number of 
Meetings 

Main Board 13

Audit 4

Health, safety and environment 3

Remuneration and nomination 1
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The attendances of directors at meetings of the Board and its committees were:

Health, Safety Remuneration
Director Main Board Audit and Environment and Nomination 

Ivan Deveson AO 13 1

Bruno Camarri 11 (13) 4 1

Steve Bertamini 2 (3)

Richard Leupen 9 (9) 3

Gordon Martin 11 (13) 3 (4) 1

David Moffatt 6 (8) 3

Dennis O’Neill 4 (4)

Roland Williams CBE 12 (13) 3

David Young 13 4
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Where a director did not attend all meetings of the Board
or relevant committee, the number of meetings which the
director was eligible to attend is shown in brackets.

Throughout the entire financial year and at the date of

this report, the United Group Audit Committee consisted

of the following directors:

David Young – Chairman

Bruno Camarri

Gordon Martin.

The details of functions and memberships of other 

Board committees are incorporated in the statement 

of corporate governance practices.

Directors’ indemnification

During the previous financial period, the company or a

related body corporate paid an insurance premium in

respect of a contract insuring directors against liabilities

arising from the performance of their duties as directors.

Directors’ and officers’ remuneration

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee approves 

the remuneration of all senior executives. The decisions

of the committee are ratified by the Board which also

determines the remuneration of the Chief Executive

Officer. Remuneration is determined as part of an annual

performance review, having regard to market factors, 

a performance evaluation process and independent

remuneration advice if deemed necessary.

Remuneration for executive directors and officers

generally comprises salary, a performance-based bonus

and superannuation, and may include participation in

approved employee share or option plans, retirement 

and termination benefits, fringe benefits and payments

of premiums for liability insurance.

The remuneration of the non-executive directors is

governed by the Constitution of the company. The

Constitution requires that the members at a general

meeting of the company must approve the total amount

which can be paid to the non-executive directors by 

way of directors’ fees. The amount which is approved 

or a lesser amount is then divided between the directors

in proportions decided by the Board, including any

additional amounts paid for membership of a committee.

The Board periodically reviews the amount paid and if

necessary will make a recommendation to the members

for approval of any increase at the next Annual General

Meeting of the company.

The consolidated entity contributes the minimum amount

required by law to superannuation funds nominated by

directors. On retirement, a non-executive director is also



entitled to a retirement payment pursuant to Article

6.3(g)(1) of the Constitution as under:

Years of Service Factor

Less than 3 Nil

3 but less than 4 1.00

4 but less than 5 1.33

5 but less than 6 1.67

6 but less than 7 2.00

7 but less than 8 2.33

8 but less than 9 2.67

9 or greater 3.00

The factor is applied to the average of the last three

years’ fees paid.

Directors’ interest

No director has received or become entitled to receive,

during or since the financial year, a benefit because of 

a contract made by the parent entity, a controlled entity,

or a related body corporate with a director, a firm of

which a director is a member or an entity in which a

director has a substantial financial interest, other 

than as disclosed under the section titled directors’ 

and officers’ remuneration in this report and in Note

30(c) to the Financial Statements.

Rounding of amounts

The parent entity is a company of the kind specified in

Australian Securities and Investment Commission class

order 98/0100. In accordance with that class order,

amounts in the financial statements and the directors’

report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars

unless specifically stated to be otherwise.
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Directors’ report

Details of remuneration provided to directors and the five most highly remunerated officers are as follows:

Base Super- Retirement/ Number of
Salary Fee annuation Other Redundancy Total Options Granted

Directors
I Deveson AO – 124,329 5,670 – – 129,999 –

B Camarri – 83,000 7,000 – – 90,000 –   

S Bertamini – 13,234 1,073 – – 14,307 –   

R Leupen 423,641 – 26,833 20,833 – 471,307 1,000,000   

G Martin – 60,000 5,000 – – 65,000 –   

D Moffatt – 56,833 4,833 – – 61,666 –   

D O’Neill 187,500 – – – 1,000,000 1,187,500 –   

R Williams CBE – 62,500 5,000 – – 67,500 –   

D Young – 62,500 5,000 – – 67,500 –   

Officers          
K Lynn 102,617 – 52,216 20,000 280,000 454,833 –   

M Gaffney 309,059 – 78,441 20,000 – 407,500 200,000   

A Smith 324,270 – 40,706 20,000 – 384,976 200,000   

M Hayes 190,662 – 17,819 162,252 – 370,733 –    

S High 302,500 – 18,333 27,500 – 348,333 –

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Ivan Deveson AO, DIRECTOR Richard Leupen, MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CEO

Dated this 28th day of August 2001.



Statement of corporate governance practices

The directors of United Group Limited apply the

following principles relative to corporate governance.

The Board of directors and its committees

The Board is responsible for the corporate governance

of the consolidated entity including strategic direction,

establishing goals for management and monitoring the

achievement of those goals. The consolidated entity 

has a Board of seven directors, six of whom are 

non-executive directors.

The Board has three committees which have been

established to consider specific issues and strategies in

order to advise and guide the Board. The committees are:

• Audit;

• Health, Safety and Environment; and

• Remuneration and Nomination.

Composition of the Board

The consolidated entity has a Remuneration and

Nomination Committee which applies the following

criteria in determining the composition of the Board:

• the number of directors will be increased when it 

is considered that additional expertise is required 

or an outstanding candidate is available;

• the members of the Board should comprise a broad

range of expertise and contribute experience to the

growth and direction of the consolidated entity;

• the majority of the Board should be non-executive

members; and

• the Chairman of the Board should be a non-executive

member and not a major shareholder.

Appointment and retirement of non-executive directors

Non-executive directors are appointed subject to the

Constitution of the company which provides that:

• at each Annual General Meeting one third of the

directors must retire and can offer themselves for

re-election by the members of the company;

• if a vacancy exists, the Board may select a suitable

candidate to fill that vacancy. That appointee must

stand for re-election at the next Annual General

Meeting; and

• if the number of directors is increased, the Board 

will select and appoint a suitable candidate who 

must stand for re-election at the next Annual 

General Meeting.

The Board will seek candidates, either to fill vacancies or

to increase the number of directors, whose qualifications

will add to the expertise of the Board and who can

contribute to the growth and direction of the

consolidated entity.

Independent professional advice

Each director has the right to seek independent

professional advice on matters which may be of concern.

Such advice will be at the expense of the consolidated

entity if approval is first given by the Chairman of the

Board or, in his absence, by the Deputy Chairman.

Audit Committee

The consolidated entity has an Audit Committee

comprising three non-executive directors: Messrs David

Young (Chairman), Bruno Camarri and Gordon Martin.

Representatives from the external auditors attend

meetings by invitation. Officers of the consolidated

entity attend meetings as appropriate. The Audit

Committee meets regularly.

The principal functions of the Audit Committee are:

• to monitor and, if necessary, establish procedures

which improve the quality and integrity of

management and financial reporting structures;

• to review the content of half yearly and year end

financial statements;

• to meet with the external auditors to establish 

the scope and detail of their audit functions;

• to meet with the external auditors after completion

of their audit to review and determine major issues

arising from the audit; and

• to appraise the performance of the external auditors.

Health, Safety and Environment (HSE) Committee

The HSE Committee must comprise a minimum of two

and a maximum of three directors, the majority of 

whom shall be non-executive directors. The directors

on the company’s HSE Committee during the year were:

Dr Roland Williams CBE (Chairman), and Messrs Gordon

Martin (appointed 5 April 2001), Richard Leupen

(appointed 10 October 2000), David Moffatt (resigned 

14 February 2001), and Dennis O’Neill (resigned

28 September 2000). The HSE Committee must meet

at least once annually.

Corporate governance
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Corporate governance

The principal functions of the HSE Committee are to set

strategies for occupational health, safety and environment

issues, and monitor adherence of policies and procedures

that have been put in place to underpin two fundamental

HSE principles:

• that no United Group employee suffers injury 

or illness arising from his or her own working

responsibilities or from the wider context

surrounding his or her work location, either 

within or on behalf of United Group; and

• that United Group’s operations do not infringe on

the quality of the environment, the aim being to

contribute to improving the environment wherever

this rests within United Group’s capabilities.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee must

comprise at least three non-executive directors. 

The Chairman of the Remuneration and Nomination

Committee must be the Chairman of the Board. 

The directors on the company’s Remuneration and

Nomination Committee are: Messrs Ivan Deveson AO

(Chairman), Bruno Camarri and Gordon Martin. The

Remuneration and Nomination Committee must meet 

at least once annually.

The principal function of the Remuneration and

Nomination Committee is to review and make

recommendations to the Board on:

• the consolidated entity’s overall remuneration

structure and strategies;

• senior management succession planning;

• senior executive remuneration structures;

• remuneration of executive directors;

• non-executive directors’ remuneration and 

retirement benefits;

• the appropriateness of the size and composition 

of the Board;

• criteria for non-executive Board membership; and

• non-executive director candidates for consideration

by the Board.

In carrying out its duties, the Remuneration 

and Nomination Committee is entitled to engage

appropriately qualified external consultants to provide

advice and recommendations.

Business risk

The consolidated entity has adopted procedures which

are designed to identify financial, contractual, safety 

and environmental risks. These procedures include

detailed monthly reviews of operations by the Chief

Executive Officer with senior management. Procedures

are also in place to identify risks before major projects

are undertaken.

The operations of the Group are reviewed at each Board

meeting. The review process is supplemented by written

reports from the Chief Executive Officer and divisional

managers. These reports review divisional performance

and permit managers to raise issues of concern. Between

meetings the Chief Executive Officer must raise significant

matters which cannot wait until the next Board meeting.

Operational and capital expenditure budgets are

approved by the Board and limits of authority have been

established at various levels of management. Matters

beyond fixed financial parameters require Board approval

before a commitment can be made. All financial reports

to the Board compare actual performance to budget for

the relevant period.

Ethical standards

The consolidated entity strives to achieve the

highest standards of behaviour and accountability. 

The consolidated entity demands that its directors and

employees be honest in their dealings with each other,

and with their advisers, customers and suppliers. 

The consolidated entity supports and adheres to the

principles set out in “Corporate Practices and Conduct”

issued by the Australian Institute of Company Directors.



19

20 Summary of financial statistics

21 Statement of financial performance

22 Statement of financial position

23 Statement of cash flows

24 Notes to the financial statements

50 Directors’ declaration

51 Independent audit report

52 Additional information for listed public companies 

Corporate directory (inside back cover)

Financial report



Summary of financial statistics
since public listing in December 1994
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1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001       

Revenue Sales $M 174.1  182.3 224.8 323.0  497.8 753.8  676.4

Other $M 2.6 1.7 2.8 2.3 3.6 7.5 5.2 

Total $M 176.7 184.0 227.6 325.3 501.4 761.3 681.6 

Results EBITDA $M 6.2  14.0 22.1  29.8  39.8 41.6  33.3 

Net interest $M 0.2 0.7 1.8 1.8  (0.7) (5.0) (4.3)  

Depreciation $M (2.6) (2.3)  (2.6) (2.6)  (6.7) (10.7)  (9.2)

Amortisation of goodwill $M – – –  –  (1.7) (2.7) (2.7)

$M 3.8 12.4  21.3 29.0 30.7 23.2 17.1

Abnormal/Significant items $M 1.1 (0.5) (0.5) – – (3.8)  (4.1)

Operating profit before tax $M 4.9  11.9  20.8 29.0 30.7  19.4  13.0 

Income tax $M (0.2) (4.3) (7.5) (10.3) (11.9) (8.7) (5.3)  

Operating profit after tax $M 4.7 7.6 13.3 18.7  18.8 10.7 7.7  

Dividends $M (3.3) (3.5) (10.1) (15.2)  (11.5) (7.3) (5.7) 

Retained profit $M 1.4  4.1  3.2 3.5 7.3 3.4  2.0 

Opening M 50.0 54.6 61.1 61.4 63.5 63.6 80.8

Issues M 4.0 0.2 – – – 7.7 –

Placements M – 4.2 – – – 9.5 – 

Dividend reinvestment plan M 0.6 2.1 0.3 – – – – 

Conversion of options M – – – 2.1 0.1 – –

Total issued shares M 54.6 61.1 61.4 63.5 63.6 80.8 80.8 

Earnings
per Share Cents per share Cps 9.0 13.6 21.7 29.7 29.6 14.0 9.5

Dividends Interim Cps 2.0 2.5 4.0 7.0 8.0 6.0 3.0 

Final Cps 4.0 3.5 6.0 8.0 7.0 3.0 4.0 

Special Cps – – 6.0 9.0 3.0 – –

Total Cps 6.0 6.0 16.0 24.0 18.0 9.0 7.0 

Franked Fully Fully Fully Fully Fully Fully Fully 

Cash $M 5.0 30.6 32.6 17.8 23.4 41.4 30.7 

Bank borrowings $M – – – (19.8) (19.6) (99.4) (71.5)

Other current assets $M 36.5 18.5 36.2 90.0 77.7 147.4 146.9 

Other current liabilities $M (33.6) (31.4) (48.7) (102.1) (85.9) (117.0) (118.0) 

$M 7.9 17.7 20.1 (14.1) (4.4) (27.6) (11.9)

Property, plant and
equipment $M 15.9 14.8 15.8 35.2 30.9 77.0 68.6

Intangibles $M – 0.2 – 27.1 25.5 46.0 42.9

Other non-current assets $M 3.8 4.6 6.0 8.1 7.0 21.1 14.6 

Other non-current 
liabilities $M (5.1) (4.2) (5.0) (14.2) (9.4) (18.9) (14.4)

Shareholders’ funds $M 22.5 33.1 36.9 42.1 49.6 97.6 99.8 

Net Asset 
Backing Cents per share Cps 41.3 54.2 60.0 66.3 77.9 120.8 123.5

Net Tangible
Asset Backing Cents per share Cps 41.3 53.9 60.0 23.6 37.9 63.8 70.5

Issued
Shares

Balance
Sheet



CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Revenues from ordinary activities 2 676,362 753,826 – –

Other revenues 2 5,193 7,530 83,614 22,202

Raw materials and consumables (344,537) (309,023) – –

Employment costs (189,265) (252,468) (4,330) (3,673)

Depreciation and amortisation (11,953) (13,396) (39) (15)

Subcontractor expenses (64,654) (81,340) – –

Borrowing costs (6,748) (6,944) (6,506) (6,499)

Other expenses from ordinary activities (51,418) (78,825) (59,237) (6,911)

Profit from ordinary activities
before income tax expense 12,980 19,360 13,502 5,104

Income tax expense relating
to ordinary activities 3 (5,267) (8,645) (496) (276)

Net profit attributable to members
of the parent entity 19 7,713 10,715 13,006 4,828

Net exchange difference on translation
of financial report of self-sustaining
foreign operations 183 (98)

Total changes in equity other than
those resulting from transactions
with owners as owners 7,896 10,617

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 27 9.5cps 14.0cps

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) 27 N/A N/A

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Financial Performance.
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Statement of financial performance
for the year ended 30 June 2001



Statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2001

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Current assets   

Cash assets 5 30,694 41,368 2,002 672 

Receivables 6 77,498 87,527 183 51 

Inventories 7 66,944 58,096 – – 

Other 8 2,510 1,786 566 56 

Total current assets 177,646 188,777 2,751 779 

Non-current assets

Receivables 6 – – 127,806 86,186 

Other financial assets 9 575 1,883 58,490 110,652 

Property, plant and equipment 10 68,600 77,004 380 64 

Intangibles 11 42,894 46,016 – – 

Deferred tax assets 12 11,144 15,446 709 1,196 

Other 8 2,844 3,770 – – 

Total non-current assets 126,057 144,119 187,385 198,098 

Total assets 303,703 332,896 190,136 198,877 

Current liabilities

Payables 13 85,190 74,899 12,581 3,208 

Interest bearing liabilities 14 20,964 39,922 20,500 37,815 

Tax liabilities 4,043 8,871 72 574 

Other provisions 15 28,731 33,182 4,147 2,856 

Total current liabilities 138,928 156,874 37,300 44,453 

Non-current liabilities

Payables 13 – – 13,920 13,798 

Interest bearing liabilities 14 50,564 59,456 50,250 59,144 

Deferred tax liabilities 16 4,079 7,009 10 19 

Other provisions 15 10,286 11,949 – 155 

Total non-current liabilities 64,929 78,414 64,180 73,116 

Total liabilities 203,857 235,288 101,480 117,569 

Net assets 99,846 97,608 88,656 81,308     

Equity

Contributed equity 17 75,626 75,626 75,626 75,626 

Reserves 18 (42) (225) – – 

Retained profits 19 24,262 22,207 13,030 5,682 

Total equity 99,846 97,608 88,656 81,308 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Financial Position.
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Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 30 June 2001
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 675,052 813,371 27,040 13,055 

Payments to suppliers and employees (624,439) (748,218) (13,707) (9,454) 

Dividends received – – 11,000 3,935 

Interest received 1,832 1,492 3,870 4,448 

Interest and costs of finance paid (6,109) (6,486) (5,973) (6,036) 

Other 2 747 – 9 

GST paid net (15,573) – (462) – 

Income tax (paid)/refund (8,944) (4,903) (520) 30 

Net cash provided by operating activities 20(b) 21,821 56,003 21,248 5,987     

Cash flows from investing activities

Return of equity investments 1,308 – – 704 

Payments for investments – (324) – (59,780) 

Proceeds from sale of property, 
plant and equipment 3,005 5,291 16 – 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3,815) (4,758) (377) (58) 

Purchase of controlled entity,
net of cash acquired 20(c) – (147,372) – – 

Other – 475 – 475 

Net cash provided by/(used in)
investing activities 498 (146,688) (361) (58,659)     

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares
and conversion of options – 44,709 – 44,709 

Redemption of loans pursuant 
to Employee Share Scheme – 115 – 115  

Repayment of borrowings 
– external parties (28,143) (47,821) (26,209) (43,625) 

Proceeds from/(repayment of) borrowings
– related parties – – 11,502 (60,006) 

Proceeds from borrowings – 120,949 – 120,949 

Dividends paid (4,850) (9,303) (4,850) (9,303) 

Net cash (used in)/provided
by financing activities (32,993) 108,649 (19,557) 52,839 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash held (10,674) 17,964 1,330 167 

Cash at the beginning of the financial year 41,368 23,404 672 505 

Cash at the end of the financial year 5 30,694 41,368 2,002 672 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of this Statement of Cash Flows.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2001

Note 1: Statement of accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared as a 

general purpose financial report which complies with 

the requirements of the Corporations Act (2001),

Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative

pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards

Board and Urgent Issues Group Consensus Views. The

financial statements have also been prepared on the

basis of historical costs and do not take into account

changing money values or, except where stated, current

valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on the

fair value of the consideration given in exchange for

assets. The accounting policies have been consistently

applied, unless otherwise stated.

The consolidated entity has adopted the presentation

and disclosure requirements of Accounting Standards

AASB 1018 “Statement of Financial Performance”, AASB

1034 “Financial Report Presentation and Disclosure” and

AASB 1040 “Statement of Financial Position” for the 

first time in the preparation of this financial report. 

In accordance with the requirements of these Standards,

comparative amounts have been reclassified in order

to comply with the new presentation format. The

reclassification of comparative amounts has not resulted

in a change to the aggregate amounts of current assets,

non-current assets, current liabilities, non-current

liabilities or equity, or the net profit/loss of the company

or consolidated entity as reported in the prior year

financial report.

The directors have elected under Section 334(5) of the

Corporations Act (2001) to apply Accounting Standard

AASB 1041 “Revaluation of Non Current Assets” for the

year ended 30 June 2001.

(a) Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial

statements of the parent entity, United Group Limited, and

its controlled entities, referred to collectively throughout

these financial statements as the “consolidated entity”.

All inter-entity balances and transactions have been

eliminated. Where an entity either began or ceased to 

be controlled during the year, the results are included

only from the date control commenced or up to the

date control ceased. 

(b) Income tax

The consolidated entity adopts the liability method of

tax-effect accounting whereby the income tax expense

shown in the statement of financial performance is based

on the profit from ordinary activities before income tax

adjusted for any permanent differences.

Timing differences which arise due to the different

accounting periods in which items of revenue and

expense are included in the determination of profit from

ordinary activities before income tax and taxable income

are brought to account as either a provision for deferred

income tax or as an asset described as future income tax

benefit at the rate of income tax expected to apply to

the period in which the benefit will be received or the

liability will become payable.

Future income tax benefits are not brought to account

unless realisation of the asset is assured beyond

reasonable doubt. Future income tax benefits in relation

to tax losses are not brought to account unless there is

virtual certainty of realisation of the benefit.

The amounts of benefits brought to account or 

which may be realised in the future are based on the

assumption that no adverse change will occur in income

tax legislation and the anticipation that the consolidated

entity will derive sufficient future assessable income to

enable the benefit to be realised and comply with the

conditions of deductibility imposed by the law.

(c) Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net

realisable value. Cost is assigned on an average cost basis.

(d) Goodwill

Purchased goodwill and goodwill on consolidation are

recorded at the amount by which the purchase price for

a business or for an ownership interest in a controlled

entity exceeded the fair value attributed to the net

assets at the date of acquisition. 

In establishing the fair value of the identifiable net

assets acquired, a liability for restructuring cost is only

recognised at the date of acquisition where there is 

a demonstrable commitment and a detailed plan. 

The liability is only recognised where there is little 

or no discretion to avoid payments to other parties in

settlement of costs of the restructuring and a reliable

estimate of the amount of the liability as at the date

of the acquisition can be made.

Both purchased goodwill and goodwill on consolidation

are amortised on a straight line basis up to a maximum

period of 20 years. The balances are reviewed annually

and any balance representing future benefits for which

the realisation is considered to be no longer probable is

written off.
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Note 1: Statement of accounting policies (continued)

(e) Construction contracts

For construction contracts on a fixed price basis, profit is

determined in proportion to the progress on each contract

when all of the following conditions are satisfied:

• it is probable that the economic benefits arising from

the contracts will flow through to the company;

• total contract revenues to be received can be

reliably estimated;

• the costs to complete the contract can be reliably

estimated;

• the stage of contract completion can be reliably

determined; and

• the costs attributable to the contract to date 

can be clearly identified and can be compared 

with prior estimates.

For construction and maintenance contracts on a cost

plus basis, profit is determined in proportion to the

progress on each contract when all of the following

conditions are satisfied:

• it is probable that the economic benefits arising

from the contracts will flow through to the company;

• the costs attributable to the contract to date can

be clearly identified;

• costs to complete other than those that will be

specifically reimbursable under the contract can

be reliably estimated; and

• where relevant, the stage of contract completion

can be reliably determined.

Stage of completion is determined based on engineering

estimates.

Any material losses on construction contracts are brought

to account as soon as they are foreseeable.

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is brought to account at

cost less, where applicable, any accumulated depreciation

or amortisation. The carrying amount of property, plant

and equipment is reviewed annually by directors to

ensure that it is not in excess of the recoverable amount

from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed 

on the basis of the expected undiscounted net cash flows

which will be received from the asset’s employment and

subsequent disposal.

The cost of fixed assets constructed within the

consolidated entity includes the cost of materials, 

direct labour and an appropriate proportion of fixed

and variable overheads.

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets including

buildings and capitalised leased assets, but excluding

freehold land, is depreciated over their useful lives 

on a straight line basis commencing from the time

the asset is ready for use.

Life

Buildings 20 years 

Plant and equipment 5-20 years or the term of the lease 

The gain or loss on disposal of fixed assets is determined

as the difference between the carrying amount of the

asset at the time of disposal and the proceeds of disposal,

and is included in the operating result before income tax

of the consolidated entity in the year of disposal.

(g) Financial instruments included in equity

Ordinary share capital bears no special terms or

conditions affecting income or capital entitlements 

of the shareholders.

(h) Financial instruments included in assets

Trade receivables are initially recorded at the amount

of contracted sales proceeds.

Provision for doubtful debts is recognised to the extent

that recovery of the outstanding receivable is considered

less than likely. A specific provision is maintained for

identified doubtful debts, and a general provision is

maintained in respect of doubtful receivables which 

have not been specifically identified.

Bank deposits are carried at cost.

Investments, including equity interests in non-subsidiary,

non-associated corporations are included in investments

at the lower of cost or recoverable amount. Dividend

income is brought to account when declared.

The consolidated entity has forward currency exchange

contracts which are project specific. As the foreign

currency exchange contracts are established to hedge

anticipated future transactions no gain or loss is recorded.

(i) Financial instruments included in liabilities

Loans and other debts payable are recognised when

issued at the amount of the net proceeds received, with

the premium or discount on issue, if any, amortised over

the period to maturity. Interest is recognised as an

expense on a proportionate time basis.



Note 1: Statement of accounting policies (continued)

(j) Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency items are translated to Australian

currency on the following basis:

• transactions are converted at exchange rates

approximating those in effect at the date of each

transaction;

• amounts payable and receivable are translated at the

average of the buy and sell rates available on the

close of business at balance date;

• the financial statements of all foreign operations are

translated using the current rate method as they are

considered self-sustaining.

Exchange differences relating to monetary items are

included in the Statement of Financial Performance, as

exchange gains or losses, in the period when the

exchange rates change, except where:

• the exchange difference relates to hedging part of

the net investment in a self-sustaining foreign

operation, in which case the exchange difference is

transferred to the foreign currency translation reserve

on consolidation; or

• the exchange difference relates to a transaction

intended to hedge the purchase or sale of goods or

services, in which case the exchange difference is

included in the measurement of the purchase or sale.

(k) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred except where

they relate to the financing of projects under

construction where they are capitalised up to the date of

commissioning or sale.

(l) Leased assets

Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised and

amortised over the life of the relevant lease or, where

ownership is likely to be obtained on expiration of the

lease, over the expected useful life of the asset. Lease

payments are allocated between interest expense and

reduction in the lease liability.

Operating lease assets are not capitalised and, except as

described below, rental payments are expensed in the

period in which they are incurred. Provision is made for

future operating lease payments in relation to surplus

lease space when it is first determined that the space

will be of no probable future benefit. Gains or losses 

on the sale and leaseback of assets are deferred and

amortised over the lease term when the leaseback is a

finance lease. When the leaseback is an operating lease,

gains or losses representing the difference between the

fair value and the carrying amount of the asset at the

time of the sale are included in profit from ordinary

activities. Gains or losses representing the difference

between the selling price and fair value of the asset 

are deferred and amortised over the term of the lease.

(m)Provision for employee entitlements

Provision has been made in the financial statements 

for benefits accruing to employees in relation to annual

leave, long service leave, workers’ compensation and

vested sick leave. No provision is made for non-vesting

sick leave as the anticipated pattern of future sick leave

taken indicates that accumulated non-vesting leave will

never be paid.

All on-costs, including payroll tax, workers’ compensation

premiums and fringe benefits tax are included in the

determination of provisions. Vested sick leave, annual

leave and the current portion of long service leave and

workers’ compensation provisions are measured at their

nominal amounts.

The non-current portions of long service leave and

workers’ compensation provisions are measured at the

present value of estimated future cash flows.

(n) Employee share and option ownership schemes

Certain employees are entitled to participate in share

and option ownership schemes. The details of the

schemes are described in Note 17. No remuneration

expense is recognised in respect of employee shares and

options issued.

(o) Project establishment costs

Expenditure incurred in establishing facilities to provide

construction or maintenance services under specific

contracts are capitalised and amortised over the initial

term of the contract.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2001



CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000
$000 $000 $000 $000

Note 2: Profit and loss items

(a) Profit from ordinary activities before
income tax has been determined after 
crediting the following operating revenue:

Revenue from ordinary activities:

– construction revenue 198,483 340,819 – – 

– facilities management revenue 72,448 73,194 – –  

– service and maintenance revenue 405,431 339,813 – – 

Total revenue from ordinary activities 676,362 753,826 – – 

Other operating revenues:    

– interest received from other persons 1,832 1,492 525 100 

– interest received from related parties – – 3,345 4,348 

– dividends received from related parties – – 11,000 3,935 

– management fees from related parties – – 15,728 13,106 

– proceeds on disposal of non-current assets 3,013 5,291 53,016 704 

– other revenue 348 747 – 9 

Total other operating revenues 5,193 7,530 83,614 22,202

Total operating revenues 681,555 761,356 83,614 22,202

(b) Profit from ordinary activities is 

after charging the following expenses:

Interest paid or payable to:

– other persons 6,041 6,100 5,973 6,036

– finance lease charges 68 386 – – 

Total interest paid or payable 6,109 6,486 5,973 6,036

Depreciation of:    

– buildings 1,091 929 – – 

– plant and equipment 7,738 8,445 39 15 

Amortisation of:    

– goodwill 2,756 2,684 – –  

– leasehold assets 368 1,338 – – 

Total charge against assets for

depreciation and amortisation 11,953 13,396 39 15 

Transfer to/(from) provisions for:    

– employee entitlements 14,676 20,418 199 235 

– other 9,603 7,689 – – 

Total transfers to/(from) provisions 24,279 28,107 199 235 

Net bad debts written off 245 210 – – 

Net charge to provision for doubtful debts 156 – – – 

Rental expense on operating leases 3,575 7,394 220 128     

(Loss)/profit on sale of non-current assets (68) 441 1,418 482 
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Note 2: Profit and loss items (continued)

(c) Significant items:    
Restructuring costs (6,109) (4,767) – (1,250)

Reversal of restructure provision 2,000 – 1,000 –

Restructure costs before tax (4,109) (4,767) 1,000 (1,250)

Other significant items

Profit on sale of property – 245 – –

Profit on sale of minor operating division – 729 – –

Total significant items (4,109) (3,793)     

Tax effect at 34% (2000 – 36%) 1,397 1,366 (340) 450 

Total significant items after tax (2,712) (2,427) 660 (800)

Note 3: Income tax expense

The prima facie tax on profit from ordinary 
activities is reconciled to the income tax 
provided in the accounts as follows:

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax 12,980 19,360 13,502 5,104

Prima facie tax thereon before income tax 
at 34% (2000 – 36%) 4,413 6,970 4,591 1,837

Add:

Tax effect of permanent differences:

– goodwill amortisation not deductible 937 966 – – 

– capital gains tax relief from gain made
in internal restructuring – – (484) (174)

– other non-deductible expenses 153 297 69 20 

Restatement of deferred tax balances 
due to income tax rate changes 984 372 93 74

Under/(over) provision for income tax in prior year (1,220) 40 (33) (64) 

5,267 8,645 4,236 1,693

Less:

Tax effect of:   

– rebatable fully franked dividends – – 3,740 1,417 

Income tax expense attributable to profit from
ordinary activities 5,267 8,645 496 276       

Note 4: Dividends paid and to be paid        

Dividends proposed:     

Final dividend 15 3,233 2,425 3,233 2,425 

Dividends paid during the year:     

Interim dividend 2,425 4,849 2,425 4,849  

5,658 7,274 5,658 7,274     

The amount of retained or future profits and reserves
that could be distributed as fully franked dividends
at the current tax rate of 34% (2000 – 36%) from 
existing franking credits or out of franking credits 
arising from income tax paid or payable 38,870 33,995  12,663 5,682       
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2001



CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000
$000 $000 $000 $000

Note 5: Cash

Cash at bank 29,135 39,616 1,975 672

Short term deposits with banks 1,559 1,752 27 –

30,694 41,368 2,002 672

Note 6: Receivables

Current        

Trade and other debtors 71,910 78,163 324 51

Retentions withheld on contracts in progress 6,287 10,206 – –

Provision for doubtful debts (699) (842) (141) –

77,498 87,527 183 51

Non-current        

Amounts receivable from:    

– wholly owned entities – – 127,806 86,186

The amounts receivable are unsecured, with no set repayment date and interest is charged on an element of the

balance at a rate of 6.41%.

Note 7: Inventories

Current

Raw materials and stores at net realisable value 28,557 30,037 – –

Work in progress:

Aggregate of costs and profits recognised 
on contracts in progress 409,632 413,078 – –

Progress billings and advances received
on contracts in progress (371,245) (385,019) – –

38,387 28,059 – –

66,944 58,096 – –

Note 8: Other assets

Current

Prepayments and other 2,510 1,786 566 56

Non-current

Project establishment costs 2,844 3,770 – –

Note 9: Other financial assets

Non-current

Shares in controlled entities at cost – – 58,490 110,652

Shares in unlisted entities at cost 461 461 – –

Other investments at cost 114 1,422 – –

575 1,883 58,490 110,652
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000
$000 $000 $000 $000

Note 10: Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment at cost:

Freehold land

Cost:

Opening balance 6,835 1,952 – –

Acquisition through subsidiary acquired – 5,133 – – 

Disposals – (250) – – 

Closing balance 6,835 6,835 – –

Buildings

Cost:

Opening balance 35,853 6,368 – –

Additions 1,171 177 – –

Acquisition through subsidiary acquired – 30,632 – –

Disposals – (1,324) – –

Closing balance 37,024 35,853 – –

Accumulated depreciation:

Opening balance (1,179) (1,054) – –

Depreciation for the year (1,091) (921) – –

Disposals – 796 – –

Closing balance (2,270) (1,179) – –

Net book value 34,754 34,674 – –

Plant and equipment

Cost:

Opening balance 60,751 43,210 129 71

Additions 2,642 5,579 376 58

Acquisition through subsidiary acquired – 20,489 – –

Transfer from leased assets 1,605 3,120 – – 

Disposals (7,627) (11,647) (38) –

Closing balance 57,371 60,751 467 129

Accumulated depreciation:

Opening balance (28,128) (26,667) (65) (25)

Depreciation for the year (7,737) (8,445) (38) (40)

Transfer from leased assets (110) (799) – –

Disposals 5,153 7,783 16 –

Closing balance (30,822) (28,128) (87) (65)

Net book value 26,549 32,623 380 64 
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2001



CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000
$000 $000 $000 $000

Note 10: Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Plant and equipment under lease     
Cost:     

Opening balance 5,070 11,252 – –  

Additions – 133 – –  

Acquisition through subsidiary acquired – 25 – –  

Transfer to plant and equipment at cost (3,048) (5,138) – –  

Disposals (1,156) (1,202) – –  

Closing balance 866 5,070 – –      

Accumulated amortisation:     

Opening balance (2,198) (4,184) – –  

Amortisation for the year (368) (1,338) – –  

Transfer to plant and equipment at cost 1,552 2,817 – –  

Disposals 610 507 – –  

Closing balance (404) (2,198) – –  

Net book value 462 2,872 – –     

Total property, plant and equipment at cost 102,096 108,509 467 129     

Total property, plant and equipment net 68,600 77,004 380 64  

Freehold land and buildings are carried at cost. Independent valuations were performed which attributed a total value
of $48,048,000 on freehold land and buildings based on their estimated market value. The valuations were performed
by Knight Frank during June 2001.            

Note 11: Intangible assets

Goodwill at cost 50,582 50,948 – – 

Accumulated amortisation (7,688) (4,932) – –  

42,894 46,016 – –     

Note 12: Deferred tax assets        

Non-current    
Future income tax benefit is
made up of timing differences 11,144 15,446 709 1,196     

Note 13: Payables        

Current
Unsecured liabilities:

– trade creditors and accruals 56,650 49,050 12,581 3,208 

– amounts payable on construction contracts 28,540 25,849 – –  

85,190 74,899 12,581 3,208     

Non-current    
Unsecured liabilities:    

– loan from wholly owned entity – – 13,920 13,798 

The amounts payable are unsecured,
with no set repayment date. – – 13,920 13,798     
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2001

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Note 14: Interest bearing liabilities

Current        

Unsecured liabilities:    

– other loan 83 – – –     

Secured liabilities:    

– lease liability 21(a) 381 2,107 – – 

– bank loans 23(a) 20,500 37,815 20,500 37,815  

20,964 39,922 20,500 37,815 

Non-current        

Unsecured liabilities:   

– other loan 210 – – –     

Secured liabilities:    

– lease liability 21(a) 104 312 – – 

– bank loans 23(a) 50,250 59,144 50,250 59,144  

50,564 59,456 50,250 59,144     

The consolidated entity’s banking facilities have been provided by National Australia Bank Limited (Note 23). Security

provided to National Australia Bank Limited is via first registered mortgages over selected properties owned by group

entities, registered mortgage debentures and an interlocking guarantee and indemnity provided by all group entities

other than Western Water Services Pty Ltd.

Lease liabilities are secured by a charge over the leased assets.

Bank loans have been provided by National Australia Bank Limited and comprise term debt and working capital

facilities which mature on 30 June 2003 and 30 November 2001 respectively. Interest rates are floating and “cap 

and collar” arrangements based on bank bill rates for appropriate periods and include a fixed margin. The average

interest rate applicable at 30 June 2001 was 7.1%.     

Note 15: Other provisions        

Current        

Dividends 4 3,233 2,425 3,233 2,425 

Restructuring 3,237 6,397 528 – 

Employee entitlements 21,186 23,355 386 431 

Other 1,075 1,005 – – 

28,731 33,182 4,147 2,856     

Non-current        

Employee entitlements 4,740 5,279 – 155 

Provision on contracts 5,546 6,670 – –  

10,286 11,949 – 155     

Note 16: Deferred tax liabilities    

Non-current    

Deferred income tax attributable
to timing differences 4,079 7,009 10 19       
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000
$000 $000 $000 $000

Note 17: Share capital

(a) Issued and paid-up capital

80,819,774 ordinary shares 75,626 75,626 75,626 75,626

(b) Movements in contributed equity 
2001 2000

NUMBER OF NUMBER OF
ORDINARY ORDINARY

$000 SHARES $000 SHARES

Opening balance 75,626 80,819,774 30,917 63,622,216

Issued during the year (refer to (e) below) – – 44,700 17,192,308 

Options converted pursuant to employee 
share option plan (refer to (c) and (d) below) – – 9 5,250 

Closing balance 75,626 80,819,774 75,626 80,819,774 

(c) Employee options over ordinary shares in the company

NUMBER OF OPTIONS
2001 16 DEC 13 SEP 13 SEP 8 NOV 2 SEP 5 DEC 6 DEC
Date of issue 2000 2000 2000 1999 1999 1997 1996     

On issue at beginning of the year – – – 2,000,000 600,000 444,500 264,750 

Issued during the year 
(refer to (e) below) 200,000 500,000 500,000 – – – – 

Exercised during the year – – – – – – – 

Expired and/or cancelled
during the year – – – – (200,000) (233,500) (264,750)

On issue at the end of the year 200,000 500,000 500,000 2,000,000 400,000 211,000 – 

Number of holders 1 1 1 1 2 36 –      

Exercise price $1.23 $1.22 $2.20 Half at $2.70 $2.70 $2.88 $1.83    
and

half at $3.00

Exercise period Dec 2001 Sep 2002 Sep 2003 Nov 1999 Oct 2000 Dec 1998 Dec 1997
to Dec 2004 to Sep 2004 to Sep 2005 to Aug 2003 to Sep 2003 to Dec 2001 to Dec 2000  

Expiry date 16 Dec 2004 13 Sep 2004 13 Sep 2005 3 Aug 2003 2 Sep 2003 5 Dec 2001 6 Dec 2000  

2000 NUMBER OF OPTIONS
Date of issue  8 NOV 1999 2 SEP 1999 5 DEC 1997 6 DEC 1996

On issue at beginning of the year – – 517,500 290,000

Issued during the year (refer to (e) below) 2,000,000 800,000 – – 

Exercised during the year – – – (5,250) 

Expired and/or cancelled during the year – (200,000) (73,000) (20,000)     

On issue at the end of the year 2,000,000 600,000 444,500 264,750     

Number of holders 1 3 50 32     

Exercise price Half at $2.70 $2.70 $2.88 $1.83 
and

half at $3.00    

Exercise period  Nov 1999 Oct 2000 Dec 1998 Dec 1997 
to Aug 2003 to Sep 2003 to Dec 2001 to Dec 2000     

Expiry date  3 Aug 2003 2 Sep 2003 5 Dec 2001 6 Dec 2000  



2001 2000
NUMBER OF OPTIONS NUMBER OF OPTIONS

13 OCT 1999 13 OCT 1999

Note 17: Share capital (continued)

(d) Other options over ordinary shares in the company

On issue at the beginning of the year 5,000,000 –

Issued during the year (refer to (e) below) – 5,000,000

On issue at the end of the year 5,000,000 5,000,000

Number of holders 1 1

Exercise price $2.60 $2.60

Exercise period Oct 1999 Oct 1999
to Sep 2003 to Sep 2003

Expiry date 30 Sep 2003 30 Sep 2003

(e) Notes on issues of ordinary shares and options in the company

On 13 September 2000, the company issued 500,000 free options to Mr Richard Leupen and/or his related parties

exercisable on or before 13 September 2004 at a price of $1.22 per share and 500,000 free options exercisable on

or before 13 September 2005 at a price of $2.20 per share, pursuant to the Employee Share Option Scheme approved

by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 6 November 1996.

On 16 December 2000, the company issued 200,000 free options to an employee exercisable on or before

16 December 2004 at a price of $1.23 per share pursuant to the Employee Share Option Scheme approved

by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 6 November 1996.

On 14 September 1999, the company issued 9,500,000 ordinary shares at a price of $2.60 per share to institutional

investors. The issue of these shares was ratified by shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting of the company

held on 8 October 1999. The proceeds were used by the company to assist with the funding of the acquisition of 

A. Goninan & Co Limited.

On 13 October 1999, the company issued 7,692,308 ordinary shares at a price of $2.60 per share to GE Capital Equity

Holdings B.V. The issue of these shares was approved by shareholders at an extraordinary general meeting held on 

8 October 1999. The proceeds were used by the company to assist with the funding of the acquisition of A. Goninan

& Co Limited.

On 13 October 1999, the company issued 5,000,000 free options to GE Capital Equity Investment Inc. exercisable on

or before 30 September 2003 at a price of $2.60 each subject to GE Transportation Systems granting a second three

years extension of the exclusivity period under its existing agreements with A. Goninan & Co Limited in relation to

its locomotives and spare parts business. 

On 2 September 1999, the company issued 800,000 free options to selected executives exercisable on or before 

2 September 2003 at a price of $2.70 each pursuant to the Employee Share Option Scheme approved by shareholders

at the Annual General Meeting held on 6 November 1996.

On 8 November 1999, the company issued 2,000,000 free options to Mr Dennis O’Neill and/or his related parties

exercisable on or before 3 August 2003 at a price of $2.70 each for 1,000,000 options and $3.00 each for 1,000,000

options. The options were issued pursuant to a special resolution passed by shareholders at the Annual General

Meeting held on 4 November 1999.

During the prior year the company issued 5,250 ordinary shares at a price of $1.83 per share to various employees

who exercised their options pursuant to the Employee Share Option Scheme approved by shareholders at the Annual

General Meeting held on 6 November 1996.A
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2001



CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Note 18: Reserves

Foreign currency translation:

– balance at beginning of the year (225) (127) – – 

– exchange fluctuations arising on 
translation of overseas net assets 183 (98) – – 

(42) (225) – –     

Note 19: Retained profits        

Retained profits at the beginning 
of the financial year 22,207 18,766 5,682 8,128 

Dividends provided for and/or paid 4 (5,658) (7,274) (5,658) (7,274) 

Net profit 7,713 10,715 13,006 4,828 

Retained profits at the end of the financial year 24,262 22,207 13,030 5,682     

Note 20: Cash flow information

(a) Reconciliation of cash

For the purpose of the statement of cash
flows, cash includes cash on hand and in 
banks and deposits at call, net of overdrafts, 
and investments in money market instruments 
with less than 90 days to maturity.

(b)Reconciliation of profit from ordinary 
activities after tax to cash flow 
from operations

Profit from ordinary activities after tax 7,713 10,715 13,006 4,828

Adjustment for non-cash items:

Amortisation of goodwill 2,756 2,684 – –

Amortisation of leased assets 368 1,338 – –

Depreciation 8,829 9,374 39 15

Charges to provisions (6,368) (3,099) 328 236

Profit on sale of non-current assets 68 (441) (1,418) (482)

Unrealised foreign exchange loss on consolidation 134 98 – – 

Movement in income taxes payable (4,828) 3,227 (502) 940

Movement in deferred taxes payable 1,184 359 478 (233)

Changes in assets and liabilities:

(Increase)/decrease in trade debtors 8,113 20,961 141 (51)

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 
and other assets 2,116 3,327 (784) 87

(Increase)/decrease in inventories (8,848) 30,562 – –

Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors and accruals 10,584 (23,102) 9,960 647

Cash flows from operations 21,821 56,003 21,428 5,987 
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Note 20: Cash flow information (continued)

(c) Controlled entity acquired   

The economic entity acquired 100% of A. Goninan & Co Limited “Goninan” on 14 September 1999. The results of

Goninan have been consolidated from 24 August 1999, the date upon which the consolidated entity became entitled

to the risks and benefits of its ownership of Goninan.

The total cost of acquiring Goninan, including costs incidental to the acquisition, was $147,956,000.

The consideration paid was funded through a mix of new debt facilities and equity raisings as follows:

2000
$000

Placement of 9,500,000 ordinary shares at $2.60 each to institutional investors 24,700

Issue of 7,692,308 ordinary shares of $2.60 to GE Capital Equity Holdings B.V. 20,000

New debt facilities (net) 103,256

Total consideration 147,956

Consideration has been attributed to net assets acquired as follows: 

Fair value of identifiable net assets 125,391

Goodwill on acquisition 22,565

Total consideration 147,956

Assets and liabilities acquired by major class were:

Cash 1,305

Receivables 57,636

Inventories 62,438

Property, plant and equipment   56,924

Intangible assets 690

Other assets 17,592

Accounts payable (37,732)

Borrowings (721)

Provisions (32,741)

Assets and liabilities 125,391

Outflow of cash to acquire Goninan, net of cash acquired:

Cash consideration 147,956

Cash balance acquired (1,305)

Borrowings acquired 721

Outflow of cash 147,372
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for the year ended 30 June 2001



CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Note 21: Capital and leasing commitments

(a) Finance lease commitments

Payable:

– not later than one year 384 2,219 – – 

– later than one year but not later than five years 104 331 – – 

– later than five years – – – –

Minimum lease payments 488 2,550 – – 

Less future finance charges (3) (131) – – 

Total lease liability 485 2,419 – –     

Reconciled to:    

– current liabilities 14 381 2,107 – – 

– non-current liabilities 14 104 312 – –  

485 2,419 – –     

(b) Operating lease commitments       

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted
for but not capitalised in the accounts:        

Payable:    

– not later than one year 7,579 7,674 208 125 

– later than one year but
not later than five years 7,195 9,561 889 155 

– later than five years 778 – 148 – 

15,552 17,235 1,245 280     

The leases set out in (a) and (b) above have been entered into as a means of funding the acquisition of minor
items of plant and equipment, acquiring access to property and vehicles. Rental payments are generally fixed.          

(c) Capital expenditure commitments        

Capital expenditure commitments contracted for:    

Plant and equipment purchases within one year 154 1,332 – –
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000
$000 $000 $000 $000

Note 22: Contingent liabilities

Estimates of material amounts of contingent liabilities,
not provided for in the accounts, arising from:

(i) Bank guarantees and surety bonds issued to
third parties arising out of dealings in the
normal course of business by controlled entities 140,759 137,623 136 – 

(ii) Termination benefits under service agreements with
executive directors and persons who take part in the
management of companies in the consolidated entity 3,441 4,758 2,595 3,940

(iii) During the normal course of business, entities within
the consolidated entity incur normal contractor’s
liability in relation to contracts which may include
litigation by or against the entities. No material
losses are expected.

(iv) As explained in Note 24(c), the parent company has
entered into a deed of cross guarantee in accordance
with a class order issued by the Australian Securities
and Investments Commission. The parent company 
and all subsidiaries who are party to the deed have 
guaranteed the repayment of all current and future
creditors if any of these subsidiary companies are
wound up. At balance date, there were no material
deficiencies in the assets of the parties to the 
agreement which would give rise to a liability for 
the parent company.        

(v) Under the provisions of joint venture agreements
undertaken by an entity controlled by Kilpatrick
Green Holdings Limited, that controlled entity is 
jointly and severally liable for all the liabilities 
incurred by the joint ventures. As at 30 June 2001
the assets of the joint ventures were sufficient to 
meet such liabilities. The liabilities of the joint 
ventures not included in the consolidated financial
statements amounted to: 545 3,431 – –

(vi) As a result of the collapse of HIH Casualty and
General Insurance Co Ltd (HIH) a potential liability
to the group exists with regard to claims outstanding 
as at 16 March 2001. It is not possible at this time
to quantify the potential liability, if any, due to the 
nature of the claims and the uncertainty surrounding 
any potential recovery from HIH’s reinsurance program 
and/or liquidation. The group has taken steps to 
limit any future liability for claims not yet reported. 
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000

Note $000 $000 $000 $000

Note 23: Finance facilities        

(a) Standby arrangements with National
Australia Bank Limited to provide funds
and support facilities        

Credit facility 90,500 112,500 90,500 110,000 

Amount utilised 14 70,750 96,959 70,750 96,959 

Unused credit facility 19,750 15,541 19,750 13,041     

The major facilities are summarised as follows:        

Bank overdraft 26,000 2,500 26,000 – 

Bank bill arrangements 64,500 110,000 64,500 110,000  

90,500 112,500 90,500 110,000 

(b) Lease facilities provided by
National Australia Bank Limited        

Lease facilities – 250 – – 

Amount utilised – – – – 

Unused lease facilities – 250 – –     

(c) Bank guarantee and/or letter of credit
facility provided by National Australia 
Bank Limited        

Guarantee and/or letter of credit facility 152,000 152,250 – – 

Amount utilised 129,837 125,371 – – 

Unused guarantee facility 22,163 26,879 – –     

(d) Unsecured bond facilities provided
by several surety entities        

Bond facilities in aggregate 50,000 50,000 – – 

Amount utilised 10,922 12,252 – – 

Unused bond facilities 39,078 37,748 – –     

Finance arrangements provided by National Australia Bank Limited (items (a), (b) and (c) above) expire on 
30 November 2001 other than bank bill arrangements that expire on 30 June 2003 for the term debt facility. 
Finance will be available under all facilities provided the company and the consolidated entity have not breached
any borrowing requirements and the required financial ratios are met. The facilities provided by National Australia
Bank Limited are interlocking on the company and its controlled entities except for Western Water Services Pty Ltd.
All of National Australia Bank Limited’s facilities, other than the term debt facility, are subject to annual review and
are subject to cancellation at either party’s election at each review date or upon expiry.
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Note 24: Controlled entities

(a) Controlled entities

The financial statements at 30 June 2001 include the following controlled entities. The financial years of all controlled

entities are the same as that of the parent entity.

COUNTRY OF OWNED
INCORPORATION 2001 2000

Note AND OPERATION CLASS % %

Parent entity:    

United Group Limited   Australia Ord – – 

Controlled entities:    

United Construction Pty Ltd (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

United KG Pty Ltd (b) Australia Ord 100 – 

Inspection Testing & Certification Pty Ltd Australia Ord 100 100 

Olympic Dam Maintenance Pty Ltd (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

United Maintenance Pty Ltd (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

Total Asset Management Services Pty Ltd (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

Western Water Services Pty Ltd (c) Australia Sub 100 100 

Kilpatrick Green Holdings Limited (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

KG Pty Ltd (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

Kilpatrick Green Pty Ltd (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

Kilpatrick Green Facility Management Pty Ltd (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

Kilpatrick Green Services Pty Ltd Australia Ord 100 100 

Kilpatrick Green Investments Pty Ltd Australia Ord 100 100 

A. Goninan & Co Limited (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

Goninan Limited (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

Goninan North Queensland Pty Ltd (c) Australia Ord 100 100 

Goninan Construction Services Pty Ltd Australia Ord 100 100 

Newcastle Engineering Pty Ltd Australia Ord 100 100 

Railfleet Maintenance Services Pty Ltd Australia Ord 100 100 

United Gooder Limited New Zealand Ord 100 100 

United Group International Pty Ltd (b) Australia Ord 100 – 

Kilpatrick Green (NZ) Limited New Zealand Ord 100 100 

Kilpatrick Green (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia Ord 100 100 

BKP Electrical Limited* Fiji Ord 90 90     

* Company not audited by Arthur Andersen.

(b) These companies were incorporated during the year as part of the restructure program. The shares held by United

Group Limited in Kilpatrick Green Holdings Limited, United Construction Pty Ltd and Total Asset Management Services

Pty Ltd were transferred at fair value to United KG Pty Ltd on 30 June 2001. This resulted in a profit on disposal in

United Group Limited of $1,424,000 (refer Note 2(b)).

(c) Deed of cross guarantee

These companies have entered into a deed of cross guarantee dated 11 May 2000 with United Group Limited which

provides that all parties to the deed will guarantee to each creditor payment in full of any debt of each company

participating in the deed on winding-up of that company. As a result of a class order issued by the Australian

Securities and Investments Commission, these companies are relieved from the requirement to prepare financial

statements.
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Note 24: Controlled entities (continued)

The statement of financial performance and statement of financial position of the companies which are parties to the

deed of cross guarantee are as follows:

Statement of financial performance 2001 2000
$000 $000

Revenues from ordinary activities 649,816 727,044   

Expenses from ordinary activities (631,858) (701,836) 

Borrowing costs expense (6,706) (6,854) 

Profit from ordinary activities before income tax 11,252 18,354 

Income tax expense (4,695) (8,311) 

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax expense 6,557 10,043   

Statement of financial position

Current assets

Cash assets 29,404 39,610 

Receivables 73,327 83,008 

Inventories 65,890 57,664 

Other 2,451 1,690 

Total current assets 171,072 181,972 

Non-current assets  

Other financial assets 2,464 3,773 

Property, plant and equipment 67,566 75,613 

Intangibles 42,894 46,016 

Deferred tax assets 11,144 15,446 

Other 2,844 3,770 

Total non-current assets 126,912 144,618 

Total assets 297,984 326,590 

Current liabilities

Payables 83,236 71,589 

Interest bearing liabilities 20,841 39,646 

Tax liabilities 4,014 8,824 

Other provisions 28,286 32,451 

Total current liabilities 136,377 152,510 

Non-current liabilities 

Interest bearing liabilities 50,486 59,275 

Deferred tax liabilities 3,907 6,848 

Provisions 10,202 11,867 

Total non-current liabilities 64,595 77,990 

Total liabilities 200,972 230,500 

Net assets 97,012 96,090   

Equity

Contributed equity 75,626 75,626 

Reserves (16) (162) 

Retained profits 21,402 20,626 

Total equity 97,012 96,090 
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Note 25: Remuneration and retirement benefits

(a) Directors’ remuneration    

The number of parent entity directors who were paid, or were due to be paid, income (but excluding prescribed benefits

disclosed later in this note under “retirement benefits”), directly or indirectly from the company or any related party,

as shown in the following bands, were: 

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000

$10,000 – $19,999  1 – 

$20,000 – $29,999  – 2 

$40,000 – $49,999  – 1 

$60,000 – $69,999  4 2 

$80,000 – $89,999   – 1 

$90,000 – $99,999  1 – 

$120,000 – $129,999  1 1 

$750,000 – $759,999  1 – 

$770,000 – $779,999  – 1 

$1,180,000 – $1,189,999  1 – 

The aggregate income of the directors referred to above:  $2,443,000 $1,232,000 

(b) Executive officers’ remuneration    

Income of executives comprises amounts paid or payable to executive officers domiciled in Australia, directly or

indirectly, by the consolidated entity or any related party in connection with the management of the affairs of the

company or consolidated entity, whether as executive officers or otherwise. The number of executive officers whose

income was within the following bands, were: 

$100,000 – $109,999 2 2 – – 

$110,000 – $119,999 2 6 – – 

$120,000 – $129,999 4 3 – – 

$130,000 – $139,999 2 4 – – 

$140,000 – $149,999 3 3 – 1 

$150,000 – $159,999 7 3 – – 

$160,000 – $169,999 4 4 – 1 

$170,000 – $179,999 2 2 – – 

$180,000 – $189,999 3 2 – – 

$210,000 – $219,999 2 3 – – 

$220,000 – $229,999 3 – 1 – 

$230,000 – $239,999 2 – – – 

$240,000 – $249,999 2 1 1 – 

$250,000 – $259,999 1 1 – 1 

$260,000 – $269,999 1 1 1 1 

$280,000 – $289,999 – 2 – 2 

$290,000 – $299,999 – 1 – 1 

$300,000 – $309,999 1 – – – 

$310,000 – $319,999 1 – 1 – 

$340,000 – $349,999 1 – 1 – 

$370,000 – $379,999 1 – – – 

$380,000 – $389,999 1 1 1 1 

$400,000 – $409,999 1 – 1 – 
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CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000

Note 25: Remuneration and retirement benefits (continued)

(b) Executive officers’ remuneration (continued)    

$410,000 – $419,999 – 1 – 1 

$450,000 – $459,999 1 – 1 – 

$750,000 – $759,999 1 – 1 – 

$770,000 – $779,999 – 1 – 1       

$1,180,000 – $1,189,999 1 – 1 – 

The aggregate income of the executives

referred to above: $11,399,176 $7,955,000 $4,501,401 $3,283,000 

An executive officer is a person who is concerned with, or takes part in, the management of the consolidated entity.

Executive officers include executive directors, regional general managers and persons reporting directly to executive

directors and regional general managers of the consolidated entity. Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2001

includes severance payments made to former employees as part of the group restructure program. 

CONSOLIDATED PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000 2001 2000
$000 $000 $000 $000

(c) Retirement benefits        

The following prescribed benefits were payable 
in connection with the retirement of persons from 
a prescribed office in relation to an entity in the
consolidated entity during the financial year. 
The aggregate retirement benefit charged
to profit from ordinary activities during the year
in relation to non-executive directors: 107 175 107 175     

The cumulative aggregate retirement benefit payable
to non-executive directors referred to above: 688 581 688 581

Note 26: Auditors’ remuneration        

Amounts received or due and receivable 
by parent entity auditors for:    

– audit or review of the financial statements 485 498 49 52 

– other services 359 542 317 542       

Note 27: Earnings per share       

Basic earnings per share (cents per share) 9.5 14.0   

Diluted earnings per share (cents per share) N/A N/A   

Diluted earnings per share are not materially 
different to basic earnings per share.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year used in the 
calculation of basic earnings per share. 80,819,774 76,638,578   

All potential ordinary shares, being options
to acquire ordinary shares, are considered dilutive.
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Note 28: Statement of operations by segments

Industry segments

The consolidated entity is a diversified engineering group with three operating divisions:

United KG

Comprising:

(i) United Construction – operates predominantly in the Australian resource construction and oil and gas industries

providing structural steel fabrication and construction services.

(ii) Total Asset Management Services (TAMS) – operates in the Australian maintenance and facilities management

sectors servicing large clients in the energy, mining, mineral processing, petrochemical, refinery, chemical and

telecommunications industries as well as the public sector. TAMS was created on 1 July 1999 and comprises

the maintenance operations previously within United Construction and the facilities management functions

previously within Kilpatrick Green.

(iii) Kilpatrick Green – is a diversified electrical engineering and construction company operating in the power, 

power distribution, telecommunications, water and waste-water industries throughout Australia.

United Goninan

Operates in the railway transportation industry providing design, manufacturing, maintenance and 

refurbishment services for locomotives and railway rolling stock including freight wagons, passenger

rail cars and trams. Its customers include Australian and international public rail authorities, private

rail operators and large resource companies.

United Gooder

A construction and maintenance contractor across a range of industries throughout New Zealand including

electrical, HVAC and mechanical maintenance, telecommunications, power and water.

REVENUE FROM
CUSTOMERS INTER-

OUTSIDE THE SEGMENT TOTAL SEGMENT SEGMENT
CONSOLIDATED ENTITY REVENUE REVENUE RESULTS (a) ASSETS

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2001

United KG

United Construction 37,977 4,342 42,319 (5,817) 32,752 

TAMS 148,484 – 148,484 6,128 31,958

Kilpatrick Green 96,818 1,857 98,675 (4,389) 44,633 

Total United KG 283,279 6,199 289,478 (4,078) 109,343 

United Goninan 371,238 30,892 402,130 28,449 182,916 

United Gooder (d) 26,546 – 26,546 1,667 7,609 

Unallocated goodwill amortisation – – – (2,756) – 

Unallocated interest (net) – – – (4,277) – 

Unallocated other 492 – 492 (1,916) 3,835 

Significant items (b) – – – (4,109) – 

Eliminations – (37,091) (37,091) – – 

Consolidated 681,555 – 681,555 12,980 303,703 
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REVENUE FROM
CUSTOMERS INTER-

OUTSIDE THE SEGMENT TOTAL SEGMENT SEGMENT
CONSOLIDATED ENTITY REVENUE REVENUE RESULTS (a) ASSETS

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Note 28: Statement of operations by segments (continued)

2000(c)

United Construction 73,784 – 73,784 4,446 27,691 

TAMS 148,540 371 148,911 6,574 31,421 

Kilpatrick Green 245,966 840 246,806 3,397 69,073 

Goninan (c) 292,957 21,953 314,910 18,640 202,694 

Unallocated goodwill amortisation – – – (2,684) – 

Unallocated interest (net) – – – (4,994) – 

Unallocated other 109 – 109 (2,226) 2,017 

Significant items (b) – – – (3,793) – 

Eliminations – (23,164) (23,164) – – 

Consolidated 761,356 – 761,356 19,360 332,896 

Geographic segments

2001

Australia 581,003 – 581,003 4,174 277,812 

Pacific (e) 26,546 – 26,546 1,667 7,609 

Asia (e) 74,006 – 74,006 7,139 18,282 

Consolidated 681,555 – 681,555 12,980 303,703 

2000(c)

Australia 677,809 – 677,809 14,734 305,831 

Pacific (e) 26,782 – 26,782 995 8,165 

Asia (e) 56,765 – 56,765 3,631 18,900 

Consolidated 761,356 – 761,356 19,360 332,896 

(a) Segment result for each division represents Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Amortisation of Goodwill

and Significant Items. The consolidated result represents Profit from Ordinary Activities Before Tax. 

(b) Significant items mainly relate to the cost of the internal restructure program (refer to Note 2(c)).

(c) The results for the year ended 30 June 2000 include Goninan’s results from 24 August 1999, the date

of its acquisition by the consolidated entity.

(d) United Gooder was included in the results of Kilpatrick Green for the year ended 30 June 2000.

(e) The Pacific geographical segment includes New Zealand whilst the Asian geographical segment includes

Hong Kong, Indonesia and Thailand.

Note 29: Superannuation commitments

Benefits provided under the superannuation funds to which the company contributes are based on accumulated

contributions and earnings for each employee. The consolidated entity has a legal obligation to contribute to the

funds in accordance with the Superannuation Guarantee Levy Legislation. 
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Note 30: Related party transactions

(a) Directors

The following persons held the position of director of United Group Limited throughout the past two years, 

unless otherwise stated:

Ivan Deveson AO

Bruno Camarri

Gordon Martin

David Moffatt (appointed 5 March 2000/resigned 14 February 2001)

Richard Leupen (appointed 10 October 2000)

Dennis O’Neill (resigned 28 September 2000)

John Trettel (resigned 26 November 1999)

Roland Williams CBE (appointed 5 November 1999)

David Young

Steve Bertamini (appointed 5 April 2001)

(b) Directors’ shareholdings
SHARES ISSUED BY
THE PARENT ENTITY
2001 2000

Shares and share options acquired in the parent entity during the year   

Ordinary share options 1,000,000 2,000,000   

Shares and share options held in the parent entity at the end of the year   

Directly   

Ordinary shares 61,000 61,000  

Ordinary share options 1,000,000 250,000  

Indirectly   

Ordinary shares 89,000 1,369,045  

Ordinary share options – 1,750,000    

(c) Director related transactions

No director has received or become entitled to receive, during or since the end of the financial year, a benefit

because of a contract made by the parent entity, or a related body corporate with a director, a firm of which

a director is a member or an entity in which a director has a substantial financial interest, other than:

Mr Camarri is a partner in the law firm Freehill Hollingdale & Page. The firm provided legal services to the

consolidated entity on normal commercial terms to the value of $124,917 (2000 – $777,986).

This statement excludes a benefit in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by 

directors and shown in the consolidated entity’s accounts, or the fixed salary of a full-time employee of the

parent entity, controlled entity or related body corporate.
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for the year ended 30 June 2001



Note 31: Financial instruments

(a) Objectives for holding derivative financial instruments

The consolidated entity uses derivative financial instruments to manage specifically identified interest rate 

and foreign currency risks. The purposes for which specific derivative instruments are used are as follows:

(i) Foreign currency

The consolidated entity does not speculate in foreign currency dealings. Foreign currency forward exchange 

contracts are purchased to hedge project specific transactions. These are used to hedge the Australian dollar

value of contractual risks and benefits and are set at the beginning of each relevant project.

(ii) Interest rates

The consolidated entity raised long term debt at both fixed and floating rates, predominantly to fund its purchase of

A. Goninan & Co Limited in September 1999. The interest rate on a portion of the long term debt has been fixed for

five years by way of a “cap and collar” rate arrangement. The consolidated entity has thus put an upper and lower

limit on the interest rate applicable to its term debt facility.

(b) Interest rate risk exposures

The consolidated entity is exposed to interest rate risk through primary financial assets and liabilities, modified

through financial instruments such as interest rate and foreign currency hedging contracts. The following table

summarises interest rate risk for the consolidated entity, together with effective interest rates as at balance date.

FLOATING NON-
INTEREST FIXED INTEREST RATE INTEREST AVERAGE

RATE MATURING IN BEARING TOTAL INTEREST RATE
(i) 1 YEAR 1 TO 5 FLOATING FIXED

OR LESS YEARS
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2001

Financial assets      

Cash 30,694 – – – 30,694 4.5% –  

Trade debtors – – – 77,498 77,498 – –  

Investments – – – 575 575 – – 

30,694 – – 78,073 108,767  

Financial liabilities      

Trade creditors – – – 85,190 85,190 – –  

Bank loans 10,000 10,500 50,250 293 71,043 6.5% 7.1%

Finance lease liabilities – 381 104 – 485 – 10.3%

10,000 10,881 50,354 85,483 156,718 

2000

Financial assets      

Cash 41,368 – – – 41,368 5.5% –  

Trade debtors – – – 87,527 87,527 – –  

Investments – – – 1,883 1,883 – – 

41,368 – – 89,410 130,778  

Financial liabilities      

Trade creditors – – – 74,899 74,899 – –  

Bank loans 20,886 16,929 59,144 – 96,959 6.2% 6.4%  

Finance lease liabilities – 2,107 312 – 2,419 – 8.5%  

20,886 19,036 59,456 74,899 174,277      

(i) Floating interest rate represents the most recently determined rate applicable to the instrument at balance date.
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Note 31: Financial instruments (continued)

(c) Foreign exchange

The following table summarises by currency the value of forward foreign exchange agreements at 30 June 2001. The
values in the table have been translated to equivalent Australian dollar values using the spot rate at 30 June 2001. 

The “buy” amounts represent the base currency equivalent of commitments to purchase foreign currencies, and the
“sell” amounts represent the base currency equivalent of commitments to sell foreign currencies. Contracts to buy and
sell are project specific and are entered into from time to time to offset purchase and sale obligations so as not to
put at risk the financial outcome of the project because of foreign currency exposures. 

Currency 2001 2000
BUY SELL BUY SELL

$000 $000 $000 $000

United States dollars:
3 months or less 4,654 (962) 2,862 –
Over 3 to 12 months 3,128 – 3,049 (132)
Over 12 to 24 months  – – 3,049 –

7,782 (962) 8,960 (132) 
Deutsche marks:    
3 months or less 2,769 (21) – (263)
Over 3 to 12 months 6,993 – – –

9,762 (21) – (263) 
Japanese yen:
3 months or less 831 – 1,818 (253)
Over 3 to 12 months – – 1,719 –

831 – 3,537 (253) 
Swiss francs:
3 months or less 83 – 207 –
Over 3 to 12 months  114 – 321 – 

197 – 528 – 
French francs:
3 months or less 550 – 657 –
Over 3 to 12 months 5 – 937 –
Over 12 to 24 months – – 851 –

555 – 2,445 – 
British pounds:
3 months or less 1,619 – 2,420 –
Over 3 to 12 months 610 – 2,398 –
Over 12 to 24 months – – 464 – 

2,229 – 5,282 –
Italian lire:
3 months or less 127 – – –
Over 3 to 12 months 191 – – –

318 – – –
Swedish krona:
3 months or less 125 – – –
Over 3 to 12 months 84 – – –

209 – – – 
Singapore dollar:
3 months or less 999 – – –

999 – – –
Hong Kong dollars:
3 months or less 3,648 (1,078) 4,710 (1,129)
Over 3 to 12 months 8,786 – 8,420 (2,131)
Over 12 to 24 months – – 11,281 (1,598)

12,434 (1,078) 24,411 (4,858)
Total 35,316 (2,061) 45,163 (5,506)     
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Note 31: Financial instruments (continued)

The following table summarises by currency, in Australian dollars, the foreign exchange risk in respect of recognised

financial assets, liabilities and derivatives entered to hedge anticipated future transactions at balance date. Financial

assets and liability captions in which all amounts are denominated in Australian dollars are not included in this table.

2001 2000 

AUSTRALIAN HONG KONG AUSTRALIAN HONG KONG
DOLLARS DOLLARS TOTAL DOLLARS DOLLARS TOTAL

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Financial assets

Cash 26,177 4,517 30,694 36,547 4,821 41,368

Receivables 71,148 6,350 77,498 79,184 8,343 87,527

97,325 10,867 108,192 115,731 13,164 128,895 

Financial liabilities

Creditors 78,436 6,754 85,190 67,389 7,510 74,899  

78,436 6,754 85,190 67,389 7,510 74,899 

(d) Fair value of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, trade creditors and bank loans approximate their fair values.

(e) Hedges of anticipated future transactions
The following table summarises the unrealised gains and losses at 30 June 2001 on foreign currency forward exchange

contracts entered as hedges of future anticipated purchases and sales showing the period in which they mature. The

gains or losses are recognised as a component of the purchase or sale transaction when it occurs. They are project

specific transactions and the carrying amounts of the anticipated purchases and sales are held at their hedged value,

hence, no physical gain or loss is expected to be incurred as the consolidated entity expects to successfully complete

the specific project.
2001 2000 

Expected recognition period GAINS LOSSES GAINS LOSSES
$000 $000 $000 $000

Within one year 663 (8,208) 900 (6,102)

One to two years – – 271 (4,822)

663 (8,208) 1,171 (10,924) 

(f) Credit risk exposures

Credit exposure represents the extent of credit related losses to which the consolidated entity may be subject on

amounts to be received from financial assets. The consolidated entity, while exposed to credit related losses in the

event of non-performance by counterparties to financial instruments, does not expect that any counterparties will

fail to meet their obligations.

The consolidated entity’s exposures to on-balance sheet credit risk are as indicated by the carrying amounts of 

its financial assets. The consolidated entity does not have a significant exposure to any individual counterparty.

The major geographic concentrations of credit risks arise from the location of the counterparties to the consolidated

entity’s financial assets as shown in the following table:
CONSOLIDATED  

2001 2000
$000 $000

Location of credit risk

Hong Kong 10,867 13,164

New Zealand 5,462 6,277

Australia  92,438 111,337   

108,767 130,778 



The directors declare that:

(a) the financial statements and associated notes comply with the accounting standards and Urgent Issues Group

Consensus Views;

(b) the financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2001

and performance of the company and consolidated entity for the year then ended;

(c) in the directors’ opinion:

(i) there are reasonable grounds to believe the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become

due and payable, and the companies and parent entity who are party to the deed described in Note 24(c)

will together be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject by

virtue of the deed of cross guarantee dated 11 May 2000; and

(ii) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act (2001), including sections

296 and 297.

This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of directors and is signed for and on behalf

of the directors by:

Ivan Deveson AO Richard Leupen 

DIRECTOR MANAGING DIRECTOR AND CEO

Dated this 28th day of August 2001
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Independent audit report
to the members of United Group Limited

Scope

We have audited the financial report of United Group Limited for the financial year ended 30 June 2001, as set 

out on pages 21 to 50. The financial report includes the consolidated financial statements of the consolidated entity

comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year.

The company’s directors are responsible for the financial report. We have conducted an independent audit of the

financial report in order to express an opinion on it to the members of the company.

Our audit has been conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards to provide reasonable assurance

whether the financial report is free of material misstatement. Our procedures included examination, on a test basis, 

of evidence supporting the amounts and other disclosures in the financial report and the evaluation of accounting

policies and significant accounting estimates. These procedures have been undertaken to form an opinion whether,

in all material respects, the financial report is presented fairly in accordance with Accounting Standards, other

mandatory professional reporting requirements and statutory requirements, in Australia, so as to present a view

which is consistent with our understanding of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position and

performance as represented by the results of their operations and their cash flows.

The audit opinion expressed in this report has been formed on the above basis.

Audit opinion

In our opinion, the financial report of United Group Limited is in accordance with:

(a) the Corporations Act (2001), including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2001 

and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations (2001); and

(b) other mandatory professional reporting requirements.

Arthur Andersen

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Derek X. Parkin

PARTNER

Perth, Western Australia

28 August 2001
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Additional information required by Australian Stock Exchange Limited and not shown elsewhere in this report is as

follows. The information is made up to 17 August 2001.

1. Substantial shareholders

The names of substantial shareholders listed in the company’s register are:

SHAREHOLDER SHARES %

ING Australia Limited 11,489,847 14.22

GE Capital Equity Holdings B.V. 7,692,308 9.52

Caledonia Investments Limited and Associates 4,861,235 6.01

N M Rothschild Australia Holdings Pty Limited 4,524,876 5.60

2. Distribution of shareholdings
RANGE OF HOLDING NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES %
1 – 1,000 720 550,840 0.68 

1,001 – 5,000 2,781 8,334,841 10.31

5,001 – 10,000 971 7,831,641 9.70  

10,001 – 100,000 604 14,531,917 17.98  

100,001 and over 48 49,570,535 61.33 

Total 5,124 80,819,774 100.00 

The number of shareholders with less than a marketable parcel is 54, holding in total 7,114 shares.

3. Voting rights

All ordinary shares issued by United Group Limited carry one vote per share without restriction.

4. Twenty largest shareholders

The names of the twenty largest shareholders of the ordinary shares of the company are:

NUMBER OF ORDINARY % HELD OF ISSUED
NAME FULLY PAID SHARES HELD ORDINARY CAPITAL

Chase Manhattan Nominees Limited 13,229,335 16.37 

GE Capital Equity Holdings B.V. 7,692,308 9.52 

National Nominees Limited 5,808,238 7.19  

Perpetual Trustees Nominees Limited 2,935,286 3.63  

Bontempo Nominees Pty Ltd 2,500,000 3.09  

Caledonia Investments Limited 1,729,339 2.14  

Westpac Custodian Nominees Limited 1,454,699 1.80  

Queensland Investment Corporation 1,449,351 1.79  

ANZ Nominees Limited 1,086,058 1.34  

Cyncoed Holdings Pty Ltd 1,000,000 1.24  

Commonwealth Custodial Services Limited <No 17 A/C> 849,416 1.05  

ARGO Investments Limited 716,444 0.89  

Trettel Nominees Pty Ltd 650,000 0.80  

Ulmoro Pty Ltd 469,833 0.58  

C J H Holdings Pty Ltd 459,400 0.57  

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 457,025 0.57  

AMP Life Limited 430,336 0.53  

Bond Street Custodians Limited <Macq Smaller Co’s A/C> 374,825 0.46  

Commonwealth Custodial Services Limited 363,019 0.45  

Government Superannuation Office <State Super Fund A/C> 350,000 0.43    

44,004,912 54.44    

Additional information for listed public companies
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